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FORFWARD
Second Printing

The Church that Would Not Be Stopped

The humble effort of this author in the writing of The Church that Would
Not Be Stopped was a gift to the congregation of Beulah United Methodist
Church in 1989. The occasion was the centennial of the building of the
first church at Beulah in 1889. I acknowledged in that book that it was an
incomplete sketch. It was, and it remains so.

Beulah United Methodist Church is again celebrating a centennial
observance this year - a most unusual one, to be sure. In September 1897,
the first church at Beulah was burned to the ground by the Blockaders.
[See the article entitled, “The Beulah Methodist Church and the
Bootleggers” on pages 20 - 22.] Of course this centennial celebration is not
celebrating the burning of the church, but rather a century of Christian
witness and Christian nurture that Beulah has provided to the
community and its members after the Blockaders purposely and
deliberately tried to destroy the church.

This printing does include some new information, following this article,
that has been discovered since the book was first printed in 1989.

The [ist of ministers of the United Methodist CAurch on page 51 has been
updated and the cemetery survey includes those buried in the cemetery
since 1989 [see page 54]. Other than these additions, the material is the
same as in the 1989 printing.

I am now in my twelfth year of serving the congregation of Beulah
United Methodist Church as minister. It has, indeed, been my pleasure.

Dennis W. “Bud” Cameron
Minister

September 1997
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NEW INFORMATION
by

Dennis W. “Bud” Cameron
1997

Sometime after the publication of the first printing of the The Church that
Would Not Be Stopped in 1989, I received a copy of a newspaper article
printed in the September 8, 1927 issue of the Mount Airy News. The
article was entitled, “New Church Dedicated,” and it told of a recent
dedication of a new church building at New Hebron Methodist Church at
Pine Ridge. The article included an excerpt from a paper by the
Reverend J. A. Cook, the pastor of New Hebron, Beulah and other
Methodist churches. Rev. Cook had done “much searching of the records
to find the true beginning of Christian work (Methodist) in this section.”

The history of New Hebron and Beulah are entwined and so the article
gives information that applies to Beulah as well. Both churches are direct
descendants of an older Methodist church in western Surry County which,
according to this article, was called Hebron. In the 1989 printing of The
Church that Would Not Be Stopped, I told of an older Methodist church in
the area that dated back to the late 1700s or early 1800s. This church,
according to this article, was Hebron. It was this church that was
referred to in Hardin E. “Skitt” Taliaferro’s book, Fisher River Scenes, as
“Bellows Meeting House.” [See the article on “Peter Beller” on pages 11 and
12 of this book which tells what I knew of the early Methodist
congregation in 1989.]

In Rev. Cook’s 1927 paper, he tells this of the early history of Hebron
Methodist Church from which Beulah and New Hebron were formed in
the 1880s:

Tn the year 1779 Rev. Andrew Yeargan came down through
Jancy Gap and began predachiing in western North Carolina. He
was the [irst Methodist preacher who traveled this section. He
established churchies throughout lhe Yadkin Valley.

The old Yadkin Circuit was organized in the early eighities of the
etghiteentsi century. Al this region was embraced in the wide
reacties of that circuit which extended [rom near Greensboro, N.
C to the Pactfic Ocean.
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Churches were organized and rude log fouses were built for
worshtp. As a rule no deeds were given or recorded for the land
upon which these log houses stood. The church was as a rule
organized in a private home and when it outgrew the
accommodations of the wilderness hut a church was built
nearby. Owing to the fact that no records were kept, it is almost
impossible to lrace lhe Hhistory of the various churches
composing the circuils as they were organized.

n an effort to find a date for the organization of Hebron
Church we have interviewed the oldest living citizens of the
community and searched the records at Dobson. So far we have
Jailed to find an exact date, but comparing the records for the
other churches we find that Hebron was in existence as early as
1822 and ifs history probably exceeds that date by at least
twenty years.

One man tells us that when fie moved into this community in
1874, the old people told him that the church had been in
existence for a hundred years. This would carry its
organization back to the days of Andrew Yeargan. [I don't
know who this person was that told this to Rev. Cook, but it
certainly could have been Sam Moore who came to this
community arvound 1874. Sam Moore was a local lay preacher
who was instrumental in Beulah's formation in the 1880s. In
1899 Sam Moore and a number of his family transferred their
membership from Beulah to New Hebron where he would have
been a member in 1927.]

The original church building stood on land now owned by Mr.

Henry Cook. The logs of wAIch the chiurch was buill were moved
nearly forty years ago and used in erecting a lenant house

WAICA Is still in use on the farm of Miss Pattte Richards.” [This

is the same church which Robert Richards described to me in

1989 and of which I wrote on page 12 of this book.]

Rev. J. A. Cook then tells that in 1882 a log structure was erected on the
site of New Hebron Church at Pine Ridge. Thus, it appears that New
Hebron Church was organized around 1882. We know the first church at
Beulah was built in 1889. We still do not know why Hebron Methodist
Episcopal Church South divided with part of its eastern congregation
becoming New Hebron at Pine Ridge. If there was division within the
Hebron Church, it is not remembered; nor does Rev. Cook suggest this was
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the case. However, Rev. Cook does not mention Beulah ChAurch in his
article either, which is not surprising, since the article was in regard to
the dedication of a new building at New Hebron.

Rev. Cook states in his paper that the old Hebron Church “logs were
moved nearly forty years ago and used in ervecting a tenant house.” That
subtracts out to around 1887. So apparently the folks remaining at old
Hebron Church continued to use the old church until the church at Beulah
was established and built. Thus, the congregation at Beulah has existed
for over a hundred years and is a continuation of the Hebron Methodist
Church which has existed over two hundred vears in western Surry
County.

I am grateful to Rev. J. A. Cook and his 1927 paper which sheds light on
the history of both Beulah and New Hebron Methodist CAurches.

Written for the second printing of The Church that Would Not Be Stopped on the
centennial observance of the burning of Beulah United Methodist Church tn September
1897 by the Blockaders.
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FOREWARD

This Historical Sketch, 4is a gigt of Love to the present congregation
o4 Bewlah United Methodist Church, and to those neatr and far away -
who Love, gondly remember and call this church their home church.

My association with Bewlah United Methodist Chunch began in Apnil,
1986, when 1, as a declared candidate for the ministry, was asked by
the distrnict superintendent fo serve as associate pasion of the
Mount Ainy - Swuy Cirewit. 1 el in Love with this church, the
ginst Sunday, and the congregation as soon as 1 met Them. 1 was
rnaised in a ruwral community in the sandhills of North Carolina, very
much Like Bewlah, only not as pretty. There L5 in the heart of my
home community a white grame church that 45 "so dear to my childhood".
Cypress Presbyterian Church has been a preaching point since 1823
and was ornganized 4in 1826. Five and s4ix generations of various
branches o4 my gpamily have wornshiped there. It 45 a sacred place

to me, not s0 much, because of Lits historic association with my
gamily, but because, in addition to home Lt was where T was faught
about God and experienced the Love and caring of a Christian gellow-
ship. Rural churches of various denominations have played such a
great part in owt nation's spiifual development and: continues o
play an important part in the Life of individuals and communities
today. The numbern of people attending worship at rural churches
today, may not be as many as in days gone by and that (s tragic.

The population Ahift grom country fo towns and cities, has had an
effect on such churches as has the growth of a mateialistic, self-
indulgent culture. VYet in nural churches across the Land, God is
sEL worshiped, HAs wond AtLL proclaimed, Faith Lis stlL nwitwred,
prayers sEULEL Lifted up and s0 Lt will continue. Lord send a revival
to those country churches, that will shake ocur people and nation, %o
seek thee and thy way, Amen.

1€ was decided by the members at Bewlah, that during this centennial
year, we would Look back at our chuwiches past and endeavorn to Learn
what we could. So Little was known. So few records and s0 many who
would have been able to tell us 50 much have gone to the Heavenly
kingdom. This yean we have Learned much about the people who have
paithfully Labored here and we have Learned of 40 many difficulties
that the church has endured with great faith. VYet there are StLL



many unanswered quesiions. Hopeqully, this histornical sketch might
Lead to f§4inding Zthose answers. Please note, that 1 have from Time o
time, used such wornds as probably, possibly, Likely, might have, etc.
Everywhere 1 have done this, 1 have irnied o underline these wonds

to call yourn attention to the fact, that Zhere is Liiile on no prhoog
at Zthis point in negand to the statement ithat gfollows the underlined
word.

As a result of this centennial celebration, the congregation has a
nenewed appreciaiion o4 the chunch's pasi, a betien undenstanding og
the church's strnuggles and a nenewed determination that the chunch
that would noi be stopped, will not be stopped. Hopefully, this yean
o celebration, og Leanning, of nemembering, will serve to challenge
ws as individuals and as a church, as we begin our second centuny. IX
i no Liktle thing, for a Local churnch to serve and be a Light in the
wilderness oy this wornld for a hundred yearns. A church centennial
celebration 48 an aggiumation of God's Leading and a gaithful response
to His punpose. 1IZ 4s hoped this historical sketch will warum younr
heanis, Ligt youn spirnits and encowrage ws all in our Lndividual journey
og gaith, as well as encourage ws as a chunch.

The preparation of this sketch has been a mosi educational experience
gorn me. Noxt only have 1 Leaned about this particulan chunch, and Zhe
Beuwlah community and its people, but is has also taught me a LoX about
the development og Methodism. Forn example: the church began as Beuwlah
Methodist Episcopal Church South, in 1889. It was a member of the North
Carnolina Conference. 1In 1890, the Western Nonth Carnolina Congenrence

was formed. ALL o4 this was within the Methodist Episcopal Church South.
In 1939, the Methodist Episcopal Church of North and South and Zhe
Methodist Protestant Chwich were joined togethern in the Methodisi Chuwrch.
In 1968, the merging o4 the Methodist Church with Zhe tvangalical

United Brethren menged and became the United Methodist Church. Beuwlah
Methodist Church has always been a cirewit church and remains so0 Zoday.
The names of the distrnict Bewlah has been assigned to has changed ogten,
as well as the make-up 04 the circuits to which the church was assigned.
ALL of this made it monre diggicult Lo Locate Lingormaiion.

1 negnret this histornical sketch is not a bettern work. The presswrie
0§ time to get it finished has not permitted needed polishing. The
subject of the book and its contents deserve being printed in a more



attractive gorm. This historical shetch 4s something that the future
generations shall treasure. (1§ you gind errons, plr. - Lo o [ aow.
1§ you have additional information please Let me know that too.| The
stony of Bewlah Methodist Church as it emerged is fascinating and
inspining. 1 hope you will gind Lt s0. 1 have divided the historical
sketeh into gourn parnts. The girnsit parnt consists of six arnticles unden
the heading, "The Church that would not be stopped.” The second part
45 entitled "Historical Shonts." The thind part consists of histornical
data and the fourth parnt 48 a small pictoral collection of Beulah
mencstens .

I would Like to express my thanks to the following people, who have
seanched their memonies and provided a wealth of Ainformation. 1In
doing 50, they have expressed thein Love for Bewlah Methodist Church.
Efmen Hodges, Robert Richarnds, John and Mildred Richards, Hurley Moone,
J.B. and Goldie Spargen, Mallie Carico Lawrence, BLLE and Stella Ramey
Carico, Vengie Lowe, Carnlie McCommick, Angelina Calloway Jurney, Ruth
Minick, Monty Wood and Rev. and Mas. Arnthur Livengood. 1 also want to
express my appheciation Lo the congregation of Beulah United Methodist
Church forn all theirn efgorts, as we have celebrated this centennial
togethen. For aften all, we know Lt 48 the gaithful gellowship of
Chnist that is the chunch, not a bwilding. To those who once were of
that faithful gellowship, who Labored here in yearns Long gone, whose
gaith and detenmination preserved the church forn this generation, who
now are Ain the gulness of God's glorny, to them we are eternally grate-
ful. To God and His kRingdom we give phaise.

1t seems it 45 customarny to dedicate any printed work, particularly

one that is a Labor of Love. Though this historical sketch be judged
a feeble effornt, please know Lt was done with a good and Loving intent.
Though the following List of dedications may be Longer than usual, each
tuibute 45 no Less sincere.



This book is dedicated fo

My mother and gathen, for a Christian home.
Cypness Presbyterian Chunch, gon Christian nwiture as a youth.
Franklin Heights United Methodist Church, forn taking this strnanger in.

Rev. Dwight Cartnen, Rev. Cameron Dodson, and Rev. Wayne McMillian
gon spirnitual help, encowragement and griendship.

Vickie D. Cameron, my wondergul, Loving and understanding wige.

Mary Inene Cameron, my daughter, joy fo my heart, and who has this
yearn accepted Chnist into hen heart.

McKay Addie-Ruth Cameron, my darling baby, who with her whisiling
and othen antics ogten Limes steals the attention of the
Bewlah Congregaiion.

Denncs W. "Bud" Camenron

Sept. 1989
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EARLY METHODISM AND WESTERN NORTH CAROLINA

The title of this article s broad enough to §i&L several volumes,
but to do that, an author would have to have a vast amount of Lnfor-
mation available and years of time to reseanch and digest it. This
wiiter has neithen. However, a summary review of Methodism and
Westenn Nornth Canofina might be of some value.

John Wesley, the son of an Anglican Miniszter and a devoted Christian
mother of Punitan stock, was an Anglican minister himself. 1In 1738
"his heart was strongly warmed," at a religious meetinn (n Altengate.
While a message on the Grace of God, Ztaken from the book of Romans,

was being delivered, Wesley gelt himself a sinner wmworthy of the

Love of God. While he nemained an Angelican minister the rest of his
Lige, his hearnt ached to bring the message of salvation and God's Grace
Zo the people. England was engaged in the industrial revolution, which
drastically changed England's Society and degraded humanity in the
process. Long hourns of grinding work with Little pay and mindmum com-
gonts, the existence o4 child Labor and Zhe poorest of working conditions
existed through England. People seemed caught in a hopeless condition
with nothing but dwdgery and misery as their Lot. The Anglican Church
(the state church) held §orn the average person Little appeal and
offened Little Ain terms of help on hope. Church attendance jell
drastically, while escape for many was scught in a bottle of Liquor.
Having Lost hope and a sense of self worth and having nothing Zo aspire
to, the people aspired to Little and were a faithless generation. In
ornden Zo neach out to the wretched masses, John Wesley, a somber and
unemotional man, became a traveling evangelist, faking the message of
salvation and ghace o the people who never darkened the doors of the
church. He, out 0§ necessity, developed a methodical sysitem of
onganization, which would support and demand the best of the many who
responded Lo the message of God's Love. Through a system of societies
and classes, and the development of Lay Leaders, he was able o
establish small bands of believers who nurtured one another in faith
and neached out to othens. To this work, Lay ministens foined 4in
carying the same message of evangelism, while some rode circults of
onganized societies supporting thein new found faith. 1t Ls amazing

to discoven that this man, who through God's Leading, brought about
the greatest nevival England has even known, was not even allowed

to preach in most of the Anglican Churches.



One of Zhose, who caught the fire of the movement, was a young man

by the name of Francis Asbury. When volunteens were called Zo go

Lo zthe colonies of Amenica fo carny the message of salvation and
Grace, Asburny volunteered to go. No one person, in the histony of
our young nation, has given himself mone completely to the cause of
Chnist and accomplished 40 much fon that cause, as Francis Asbunry.
Following the Revolfutionary war he became the §inst Bishop of zhe
Methodiszt Episcopol Church in 1784. He is truly the founder of
Amenican Methodism. "Live on die, 1 must nide" he once said, gon

At was by niding that he was to carvry the message of salvation and
Grnace. He was the "firnst cirewlt niden in America" and was often
called the prophet on the Long nroad. Over a forty-five yean period,
fom 1771 to 1816, Bishop Asbury covered 265,000 miles. He saw Meth-
odism grow grom s4ix preachers and six hundred members, to seven hundred
preachens and two hundred thousand membens.

Western Nonth Carnolina was sfowly being settled, but stilL was a big
wilderness with practically no towns. There were only trhails and hand-
Ly any kRind of organized neligion, except in small pockets, where groups
of settlens brought thein neligious beliefs and onganizations with them.
There wene the Moravians at Bethania and fLaten Safem and the Quakers

at New Ganden, Westfield and Deep Creek. Interestingly enough most

0f the settlens in western Nonth Carnolina came not §rom the east, but
rather grom the North through the "Great Wagon Road "as it was called.
They came down §rom New Jersy, Pennsylvania, Maryland, and Virginia
acnoss the Shenandoah Valley and across the BlLue Ridge Mountains
through the various gaps. Where the people went, Asbury was soon

Lo follow. Bishop Asbury came down Lhrough Vinginia and crossed over
Flower Gap into Swwiy County 4in the yeans 1771, 1781, 1784, 1788, 1790,
and 1792. His noute did not bring him to the Beulah Community, but not
far from Beulah o the east. Sunely from FLowern Gap he behefd Round
Peak, Shull Camp and the Valley's of Beulah. On these travels, he was
on his way grom Bridle Creek Churnch nean Independence, Vinginia to Me-
Knights at CLemmons. Ruth Mindick, Swuwy Counties fomnmost histonian,
upon whose neseanch this wiitern {8 draming extensively, charts his
nowte through as follows: FlLowern Gap, down pauls Creek Zo Stewarts
Creek, as it nan into the Ararnat River, and on down the Ananat through
Siloam where the Aranat muns into the Yadkin and down the Yadkin zo
CLemmons. 1t is tradition, that Asbury visited in Siloam, and may

have even organized a meeting there.



1t 46 known, that a Brothen Whitaken of Siloam, became a circwit
niden unden Asbury and that Asbury visited in Whitaken's home. 1t
45 also khnown that Asbury stayed in the home of a Mr. Armstrong on
Paul's Creek. Evidently, this was at the site of what Later was to
become Hugh Gwyn's Plantation "Idlewile" on Pipen's Gap. 1i is also
very Likely that if Asbury stayed there he may have preached there.

John Wesley died in 1791, Leaving 4in his will a silver spoon, a

grock, and the Methoddist Movement. Tauly, Zhe nipples he Aset in

motion in the Lake of historny are sELL moving outward. One of his
greatest guided acts, whethern intentional or nof, was fetfing Francis
Asbury "Loose" on Amernica. Francis Asbury by devotion and perseverance,
established a solid foundation for Methodism in America and set "Loose"
many devoted circuit niderns who had the buining desire, as did Asbury
and Wesley before them, to spread the message of salvation and Grace

to a Losit wornkd.

This author would now &ike to introduce fo you some of the Leading
clreult rnidens of the nineteenth centurny, who spent much time in

Suwy County, promoiing Zhe cause of Christ and building the Metho-
dist Chunch. 1In doing a0, many of the circudlt riders are not men-
tioned. Forn monre Lngormation on who they were and about their ministry,
see the book Central Methodist Church - Mount Airy, Nonth Carolina -
1¢'s Eanly Yeans 1829-1900, by Ruth Minick. 1t is Largely §rom this
book, that this wiiten draws information for this anticle, with the
permission of Miss Ruth Minick, the authon.

Peter Doub, March 17, 1796 - August 24, 1869

Peten Doub was boan in what 48 now Forsyth County, in 1796. His
gather and mothern wene John and Eve Doub. They were converted fto
Methodism by Andrew Yeargin, the §inst minisitern assigned to the
Yadkin Cireudit 4in 1781. John Doub, Petern's fathen, became a Local
Methodist Ministen. He and his wife organized a church of s4x £o
eight memberns in thein home. At a camp meeting Ln 1802, their son
Peten, was "awakened" and in 1817 was converted and Licensed to
preach. Peter Doub was stationed in the Yadkin District (grom
Orange £o Patrick West) in 1826-1829. In four yeans, he conducted
50 camp meetings and 144 Quarterly Conferences. During all these
meetings, 2,738 people werne converted undern his preaching.



Tradition has 4%, that one of Zhese camp meetings was held at a
crossnoads ek Toast. He certainly had an effect on the spreading og
Methodism in Surny County. For 4% was under Peter Doub's Ministny,
that the Methodist Churches og Mount Hemman, Lebanon (Mount Airy) and
Siloam wene onganized. He was widely held the mosX prominent preachen
0§ North Carolina and was awarded the Doctorn og Divinity degree by
Taindity College. He died 4in 1869, having served as a Methodist
Ministen gon overn §igty yeans.

James Needham 1799 - 1§99

James Needham was a supply preacher. He never joined Zhe Conference,
yet he was Lo spend seventy-eight and a half yeans in the minisinry.
James Needham was an extraordinary man. Rev. J.P. Rodgers, who was
ministen at Beulah at the Lime the church was buwned, wroZe a pamphlet
entitled, "Life of James Needham" shonily after his death in 1899.
Rodgens said, "Probably no minister in Nonth Carolina was monre
nemankable on mone widely beloved. James Needham was born in Randolph
County 4in 1799, of devout Methodist parents. As a child og four on
give, his gamily stanted out forn Ohio, but because of Lness siopped
at a home nean Lawrel Blugg 4in Suwwy County. They siayed there fon
severnal yeans. The gamily Zhen moved back to Randolph County. James
Needham was converted <in 1820 and in 1842 he moved near Pilol Mountain.
Father Needham, as he was widely known, served the churches in this
anea as a supply preachern until his death, just shornt of his one
hundredth binthday. James Needham established many of the Leading
camp meetings that were very popular in that Zime. He onganized the
Blue Ridge Mission, served gorn two years on the Fisherns Riven

Mission and traveled one yean as a circudlt nidern om each of zthe
gollowing cireuits - Stokes, Forsyth, Suwwny, Yadkin and Surnny Cireudt,
which had twenty-eight appointments. He probably helped ornganize many
chunches in Suwy and surrounding counties. 1L 4s said "he preached
expecting results.” 1L 48 sadid he was widely known for his power o4
prayer, many sionies are nemembered 0y his praying gorn the sick who
got well, of praying with families in grief and Zthey became joyful.
When he prayed gon rain, it rained. At the age 0§ nineiy-eight,
Needham assisted in a nevival at Central Church in Mount Airy. Father
Needham is buiied at New Hope Methodist Church at Ararat, Nonth Carolina.
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Miles Foy May 21, 1811 - March 10, 1895

For sixty yeans, Miles Foy was an Ambassador forn Chrnist. Foy was
boan in 1811 in Jones County. He was Licensed to preach in 1829 at
the age of seventeen and was sent to the Salisbury Cirewit, which
included at that time, a part of seven counties. On two occasions,
duing his active minisiry, he had to drop out of the minisiry
because of failing health. He retired from the thaveling mindistry
in 1880 and Lived the nest of his Life in Mount Airny. He and his
Last wife are bwiied in the ofd Methodist Cemetery in Mount Adiny.
He was marnnied three times.

Marquis LaFayette Wood October 23, 1829 - November 25, 1§93

Rev. Marquis Wood was to serve the Mount Adrny area on three difgerent
occasdions. Rev. Wood was boan Ain 1829 in Randolph County and was
ordained in 1857. He finst came to the Mount Adry Circult at the age
0f twenty-nine, and served here in 1858-59. He retwined as pasiorn

of the Mount Alry Methodist Church, and was Presiding ElLdern of the
Mount Alrny Distrnict 4n 1870-74. He kept an interesting diary, which
tells much about this work as a cirewlt rider mindisten. 1In 1859 he
went to China as a missdionary and served there for ten yeans. He was
president of Trinity College for one year, but didn't Like {t. He
held appointments for the nest of his careern. He died in 1893, and
Like Asbury, he preached three weeks before his death, sitting 4in

a chainr.

Rev. Waddi£f Johnson

Rev. Marquis Wood, in his diary entry dated February 3, 1858, wnites
o4 meeting a Brothen Hicks, whom he §irst met at the Blue Ridge
Meeting 4in 1856. Brother Hicks was a Local preachen. Brothern Hicks
told Rev. Wood that he was converted under the preaching of 0&d
WaddiZl Johnson. Brother Hicks stated, that Waddill Johnson was the
gt Methodist preacher that came through this country. 1§ Brothen
Hicks was an old man in 1858, it L8 possible that he was convernted
unden Waddill Johnson 4in the early 1800's. Waddill Johnson shows up
as an appointee on the 1815 List of ministens. Beyond this,

nothing 48 known of Waddill Johnson.
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Pefen Belleon

Little 44 known of Petern Bellern. 1t appearns he was a Local Methodisit
preachen and established a meeting house <in the Beulah section of Surry
County. The meeting house was known as Bellern's Meeting House. 1In

1798, he obtained a tract of Land by state grant forn Lfhree hundred acnres.
Much 48 wuitten about Panson "Bellow's" and events that happened at his
meeting house <in Fisher River Scenes and Characterns, a book printed in
1859, and written by Handen E. "Skitt" Taliajews. Taliaferro was
rearned in the Fisher's River section of Suwy County, and the book is
based on events, stornies and people he khnew while ghowing up in Zhat
section in the early 1800's. (In the Land grant the name is spelled
Bellen, 4in Fishen Riven Scenes and iits Characterns, the name is spelled
Bellow] 1In Zhe book, we have the gollowing desciipiion of Beller. '"He
was dressed in naw hide", "siitched-down shoes", he stood s4ix foot gour
inches. He was naw boned, Long gaced, pug-nosed, and wide mouthed - - -
He was a mountain "boomer" dressed in a Linsey hunting-shint down Lo

his knees, with a Leather band around his walsi, a fow and cotion shirL,
dressed buckskin pants with a few other things of minor {mportance."

The book also identigies the gamily og William and Sarah Tucker as being
Methodist. Dick Snow, who mauviied Sally Tucker, the daughter of William
and Sarnah Tucker, 4is quoied by Taliaferro as having said, "we didn'Z
have much o4 a weddin, 'cause as how the ofd man, ofd 'omun and all the
gals. Sally too, was mosthodises Zhey wouldn'Zt 'Low dancin'. "SkiZt"
Taliaferne also says his mothen Lived and died a Pious Methodist. 1In
the book he also tells of the daughterns of Mesheck Frankiin, Zhe
congnessman, who "went o the Methodisit quanterly meeting nean the
nesidence of Dick Snow. The Franklin ginls called on Dick Snow and
spent the night with him." Presumedly, Zhis meeting took place at
Bellen's meeting house. Mantha Jane "Patiie" Richands operated a sione
in the Bewlah Community gfor over ity yearns. She bought some property
in 1918, On Zhe property was a Log house. Pattie was very knowledgeable
about events and the people of the Beulah Community. She Zold her nephew
Robernt, that the Zwenty by fornty foot Long cabin that stood on her
property had once been a Methodist Church. Robert also remembers hearing
that the Log house was moved back about fifteen feet grom its oniginal
Location, that there were deep holes made by honses idled Zo hitching
posts. Robert says that the cabin which burned <in the 1950's, was a
very old Log house when he §inst saw it as a child.
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He also sadid the beams were made of Larnge hewn Logs. Robert sald
there were no trees in this area in this century to have made the
huge beams that were in the house. He estimated that the house was
built in the early 1800's. This wiitern believes that the Log
strwetune was probably Bellen's meeting house. Bellern's meeting
house may have also served as a school houwse. Not a Lot L5 known by
this author about Petern Bellern, where he came f§rom orn where he went.
At one time he was Living in Grayson County, Virginia. Beller did
stant the it Methodist Church in the Bewlah Community. What
happened to Belleas church and congregation L8 not known at this time.
I§ Bellen's name 4is German and At is entinely possible that it is,
then it may have been pronounced Bul'-Ler. 1§ so0, this may have been
the sounce gor the name of the Beulah Community.

Sounces: Central Methodist Church, Mount Adwy-Nonth Carnolina. 1&'s
early yeans by Ruth M. Minick (1979)
Fisher Riven Scenes and Charactens by Harden E. "Skitt"
Taliagerro (1859)
Land Grant of Petern Beller - Swury County Register of Deeds
Oggice.
Conversations with Robert Richands, Richard Freeman, Efmen
Hodges.
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THE BEULAH COMMUNITY AND THE FORMATION OF
THE BEULAH METHODIST EPISCOPAL CHURCH SOUTH

The Beulah Community is a beautiful area and a good place Zo Live. This
statement would not do jusiice 4in descrnibing Beulah to someone who was
unacquainted with £t. The people who Live Zhere know the statement is
twe, but they also know that these few wornds do not begin o describe
Bewlah as Zthe special place it is. Beulah Lies at the foot o4 the Blue
Ridge Mountains and has several mountains within the community. 1% 4is
made up of beautiful green valleys and many glowing strneams. The many
pastures and fields give way Lo breathtaking views of Lhe mountains o4
Zthe Blue Ridge. There 48 Sugar Loaf, Fishern's Peak, and Piney Knob.
The mountains and their gaps make gor an inspining view no mattern what
the season. 1In the nonthern edge of Beulah 48 Round Peak Mountain
(ELevation 2,094), szanding out grom and south east of Fishen's Peak
(ELev. 3,609). Then almost due south of Round Peak 4is Buck Mountain
(ELev. 1,805), Zhen furnthern southeast is Skull Camp Mountain. Warrior
Mountain, Saddle Mountain, Rich Mountain and the area of Roaring Gap can
be seen 4in the distance to the south west, blLending in with the Blue
Ridge as Zhe mountain range Zwwns in that direciion. 1§ anyone wants
2o know why Zthe Blue Ridge Mountains are called blue, Zhey need o

come to Beuwlah and Zhey can see for Zhemselves. This L8 pariicularly
50 Lf AL 45 a crysial clear day with the sun shining and puffy white
clouds glLoating sLowly by 4in the Carolina BLue sky.

ELmen Hodges says, Zthat the older Beuwlah Community began on the east
s4de of Buck Mountain in Zhe west and continued on around the southeast
side o4 Round Peak on the nonth. From there somewhat southeast o
and then down Woodfonk Branch, zthen south across Zhe woods and gields
until neaching Beaver Dam Creek. Then west as the creek meanders

and along the nonthern side of Skull Camp Mountain. From Skull Camp
Mountain nonthwesz to Sage Creek. From Sage Creek, nonth again

Zo Buck Mountian. As best as can be determined, Zhere has never

been a post ofgice at Beulah bearing that name. Around 1928, a

post ogfice was Located gorn a numben of yeans Ln Sparger's Sitonre.
Effonts wene made at the time to have the posit ofgice named Beulah,
but eggonts wene denied because there was anothen Nonth Carolina posi
ofgice already named Bewlahville. The name given to the post oggice
was Bottom. Bewlah remains today a wwal fauming community. Tobacco
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conn, soybeans, wheat, nye, sthawberries and vegetables are some of
the kinds of crops naised in Beulah. In addition, there are a number of
dainy, beef and pouliry operations in the community, and nealy
everyone has a garnden and some gruit trnees. However, today, few
pamilies make garming their gull time occupation. Most have other
jobs in Mount Alrny, Dobson, or even Winston-Salem. The Beulah schools
have always been {imporntant in the Bewlah Community. 1In 1927 a number
of small schools were inconporated into a new and fLarnger school called
Bewlah School. Now the school s an elementary school, with older
students going to Gentry Middle School and Noath Surry High School
near Mount Adlny.

The Bewlah Home Extension Homemakerns was organized over fifty yearns
ago and has been an important onganization forn the women of the
community. The Beulah Rwiitan CLub was onganized <n 1951. The
Skull Camp Volunteern Fine Depantment was onganized in the early 1980's
and provides a valuable service to the community. Boy Scouts, Ginl
Scouts, Brownies, 4-H and various ball teams give the youth opponr-
tunities gon play and Learning. Today, there are a number of churches
in the community, most of them are Baptist. There 45 Round Peak
Primitive Baptist, and to the southwest Flat Top Primitive Bapiist.
Missionany and Independent Baptist churches in the community include,
Oak Grove, Central View, Ladonia, Amazing Grace, Mountain View, New
Life, and Mount Vernon. Some of these churches are outside of the
boundaries of Bewlah proper, but Beuwlah people attend them. AlLso,
those people outside of Bewlah proper claim they are §rom Beulah.
The consolidation of the schools into Beulah School has extended the
boundaries o4 Bewlah Community. Bewlah United Methodist Church is,
to this wiiterns knowledge, the only non-Baptist church in the area.
The Beulah people are good people, neighborly and community minded.
In these and other ways, the Beulah Community has many of the same
characteristics as the Bewlah community of a hundred yeans ago, but
also there are some difgerences. However, before we Look at the
Bewlah Community at the time of the formation of the church, Let wus
twwn to the earnly Beulah area before and following the Revolutionary
War. 1% was then that people began settling in Beulah.

Following this article is a porntion of the Fred Hughes Histonical
Map showing the Beulah area and earliest neconded Landownerns. You
will want to be sure and Look at that map. Accornding to Hughes'
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rneseanch, the earliesi person o own property in the area was

Peten King, who obtained property Ain 1745. 1In the 1760's William
Robertson, Henny Manadue, Jn., James Dornchester, and Andrew Ferguson
received property. In the 1770's, Matihew Davis, Jn., John Hanna,
James Roberts, and Andrew Fostern recelved property. In the 1780's

we gind the numbern of deeds and grants gon property increasing.

The neadern needs to be aware that some of the property owners wenre
specwlatons and did not settle here, but in Zthe 1780's settlement

was Zaking place. Those who necedived property in Zhe 1780's wene:
Matthew Cox, John FLemming, Connelius Keilth, Jn., Thomas Rabon

Henny Nomman, Thomas Nowman, ELL Nomman, Moses Cockerham, SolLomon
Nelson, Zacharniah Senter, WilLiam Munkes, Standwick Howard, Aaron
Moore, Leonard Davis, Henry Speer, Edmond Wood, Micajah Oglesby,
Edmond Wood, John Taliaferro, Joseph Allen, Thomas Spears, James
Tucker, Richard Taliagerro, Gilbert Keen, Zenos Baldwin, Thomas
Spence, Robernt Bynd, William Davis, John Brasel, WiLL{iam Fuquay,
Josiah Keen, Thomas Clank, WilLiam Head, Peter Beller and John
Howard. 1In the 1790's the setilement continued with Lands obZained
by Jonathan Cox, Garner Tucker, Matithew Davis, Sherod Brock, WiLL{am
Hodges, PhRilLip Richards, Joel McKay who nan a miLL, and Peten
Hamlin. By 1800 there was a growing setilement here and (& continued
through the nineteenth centurny. Dn. John Taliaferro over on Fishen's
Riven fo the west, served the medical needs o4 the community.

Hughes' map shows there was a school in Zhe community in 1785. The
Franklin, Edwards, Oglesby and Taliafervwo families Lived over on

the Fishen's Riven section of Zhe Beulah Community. They were
prosperows, educated and politically active. Theirn ingluence extended
into the Beulah Community. They, Like practically all of the othen
settlens in the early yearns of the community, migrated from Virginia
into Zhe area. Most werne hard wornking, and many were uneducated.
Most were independent in Zheir wonds and actlions. Mosit of Zhe
settlens had Little and Lived by sweat and hard work. 1% 48 noi known
when the Primitive Baptist came. They werne here early. Peten
Bellen got a Land grant forn three hundred acres in 1789 on Beaver Dam
Creek. We know Little about him except, that he was a Methodist
Local minister and established a meeting house, which may have also
been used as a school in the eanly 1800's. Much 48 wrilten about

the people 0§ the area by Harden "SRLLE" Taliaferro Ain his book
Fishen River Scenes and Characterns Ain 1859. Skitt Taliaferrno was
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born 4in 1811 and the book 45 about the people, events and stornies
that werne told in the early 1800's.

No one seems to know when the community §irnst came to be called
Bewlah. Neithen does anyone know forn sure how the name oniginated.
This wrnitern suggests two possible origins fon the name Beulah, gdiven
to the community. The st possibility 45 neliglous in ornigin. In
Isalah 62:1-5, God through the prophet 1saiah, promises the people of
Isnael that in some future day Israel shall be known forn hen night-
eousness, and she shall have renewed glory. Israel shall no Longen
be tewmed forsaken and Lit's Land shall no Longer be called desolate,
but the people shall be called Hephzibah (God's delight] and the

Land shall be called Bewlah (married to God). (This weitern's
paraphrase.) Also, the New Testament concept of Heaven was similar
to this. John Bunyan wrote of that glonious Land at the end of £ife's
journey, as being Bewlah Land, in his book Pilgnim's Proghess. The
eanly settlens, as well as the people o0f the nineteenth century, were
familian with both the BibLe and Pilgrnim's Progress. Thus, the name
of the Beulah Community might have received its name grom these

sounces with a neligious theme. The second possible source for the
name of the Bewlah Community might come from Peter Beller's meeting
house. This possiblity 4is discussed in more detadil in the article
entitled, "Eawly Methodism and Western Nonth Carolina, under the sub-
heading, "Peter Bellfer." 1§ Bellen is German and pronounced Bul'-Len
then this could be the source for the sLightly changed pronounciation
and spelling of Beulah. Back in the early eighteen hundreds, a chwrich
would have been wused to refern to a particular area such as Bellen's
(Bak'-Lern) meeting house. Again, the wriiter presents these as two
possible explanations for the name of the community. In fact, AL 45
not beyond reason, to think the community might orniginally have been
neferted £o as the area of Beller's meeting house and then years

Laten the name was sLightly changed fto neglect the religious context.
1t sl nemains a mysterny to this authorn, as to what happened to
Bellen's Methodist congrnegation. 1t appearns he Left the area sometime
around on agten 1825. Possibly, as there was no other Methodist
preachen in the area, the congregation collapsed, and in fact by 1889
all who were in his congregation could have died. Hopefully, additional
nesearnch will tell us more about Peter Bellenr. "
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Following the Civil War, some new families moved inte the Beulah
Community. These gamilies were to have a majon role 4in the gonmation
04 the Beulah Methodist Episcopal Chunch in the fLate 1580's and were
£o compose the Largest part of its membership forn the girst halg
century of the church's existence. 1In the Late 1860's, the gamily

of Jesse H. Richards and his wige Mary Lane and children, Jesse C.,
M.J., "Patiie", John, Welcome and 0Livia, moved into the Beulah
Community grom Yadkin County. In the early 1870's, the family 04
Joshuway Mcore and his wige, ELLen Bynd moved into the community

gnom Grayson County, Virnginia. Some of their children were Sam,

John and McKinley. (There were othen children.) By 1882 the gamily
04 Manshall C. Athins and his wife ELizabeth HLLL had moved into the
Beulah Community grom Grayson County, Virngimia. Some o4 thein children
were maviied at the time ogf thein coming. C. Faiel Athins mariied
Malinda Phillips. John Heath Athins was ancther son. L. Kempenr
Athins mauied Mantha Key. G. Leff Athins, E.E. mawiied William
Bantlett, William K. Atkins marwiied Neveda Jackson, Laura Atkins who
mavied Myne Vernnon and Betiie Athins who mauviied Ab. C. Calloway.
Little 45 kRnown aboul these gamilies prnion to Zheir coming Zo Beulah.
It 48 nok known ig there werne Methodists in the communities they came
gtom on nox. These gamifies werne neighborns of each other.

The events Zeading up to the ornganization o4 Beulah Methodist Episcopal
Chunch are noi known. 1% 4s neporied that the church ghew oul o4 a
Bauwsh Arbon meeting on the site of the present cemetery. Manshall C.
Athins owned that Land. He died in 1888. 1t is not known who was

the preacher o4 the Brush Anbor meeting. 1&£ 48 not known 4if Lt was a
camp meeting. 1t is also not known how much Lime Lapsed between the
Buwsh Arborn meeting and the bwilding of the giwst church <in 1889. It
would have required some Lime to raise the money required te bulld a
grame church, the windows, etc. This author is certain in his own
mind, that Sam D. Moore and C. Friel Athins played a big part 4in Zhe
onganization of the church. By 1896 and perhaps earlien, Sam D. Moonre
was a Local Methodist preachen. There were probably othens in the
Athins, Moorne and Richards gamilies who were active. Undoubiedly,
some of Zhe wives were actively involved.

The church, though small, was estabfished and going well. 1n 1892,
three acres of Land was deeded to the church by W.K. Atkins, J.H.
Athins, E.E. Athins and her husband William Bartlett. These wene



three heins of Manshall C. Atkins. The deed makes neference to the
corner of the church, which was atready bwilt.

So the church began. Many unknown troubles Lay before Lt. This
church began out of a revival. 1X began with strong faith. That
faith was to be tested many times. The church had a purpose and
a Lond to serve. This church would not be stopped.

Sounces: Surny County Histornical Map by Fred Hughes.
Fisher River Scenes and Characters by Harden "Skitt"
Taliagerrno (1859)
Surty County Deeds
The Bible
Bible Dictionary
Church Deed
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Conversations with: Elmern Hodges, John and Mildred Richards,

Vergie Lowe, Robert Richands, Hurley Moone, and Rev. Anthur

Livengood.
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THE BEULAH METHODIST CHURCH AND THE BOOTLEGGERS

The Methodist Church has always been opposed to the vse of alcohol

as an intoxdcant. This 4is because such wse of alcohol does not foster
on promofe the Apinit gilled Lige Lived in close relationship with God,
nathen the contrany 45 thwe. 1t 4is thus understandable, that the Bewlah
Chunch eanned a reputation in this area as being opposed o Liquon and
s wse. It 48 this wiitens understanding, that around 1895, the Legis-
Lature enacted a Law closing all the state Licensed distiflenies in the
wrel areas of the state. Prion Lo this, a person cowld operate a small
distillery on his farm L4 Licensed and Lf a Liquox ' ‘amp “a2v we' oadld on
the manufactured Liquor. Many such distillens existed throughout the
state and also in Swwy County. The making of Liquor had Zong been
recognized as a means of hevenue Lin the mountains and goothills of North
Carolina and Virginia. The passage of this new state Zaw was therefore
verny unpopular among those who had operated these small distilleries,
which were declared unlawful. Needless to say, the many consdumers of
Liquor werne also upset about {t. Aftern all, Liquor had been a real

part of frontien Life gon generations. 1t was, one might say, a part

0f the culture of the people. ALso, the people of the mountains and
goothills of North Carolina and Virginia werne an independent minded
people, who by and Large, felt government should not internfere too

much with thein Lives. The state, telling them they could not Legally
make on sell Liquor, whiskey or brandy, was too much for them to accepz,
especially when the state had for many yeans Licensed the distilleries.
The issue to many was not only one of economy, but also one of principle.

It needs to also be pointed out, that the efgect of Liquor on the Lives,
homes and communities of the region was devastating. Husbands and sons
were often impained on even died grom aleohol abuse. Then too, the
mixing of drinking and socializing often Led to f4ighting, which maimed
and Rilled many. Hardly a home could be found where the abuse of
aleohol had not brought sorrow and heantache. Many Methodist preachens
and churches outspokenly opposed the making, selling and consumpition

o Liquon in the Late nineteenth century. Such was the case at

Beulah. Rev. Jesse Pinkney Rodgens was minister at Beulah in 1896 and
1897. Severnal difgerent people have reported being told by older
family members that a black man had been hanged from one of the trees
Ain the Bewlah church yard. One of the stonies, repoats that the man
was beaten to death before being hanged.



The man is said to have nepornted a Liquon sTlL to the awthorties
and was kRilled by the bootleggens because thein s£LL had been
roided. The hanging at Bewlah Methodist Church was o serve as a
warning to the church to sfop its oulspoken opposition on the Lig-
uon {ssue. There is no wiitten documeniation at this Ztime that
supponits the hanging incident, but the onal thadition conginms Aits
happening. The name of the bfack man who was hanged <8 not known

at ihis point. The hanging apparently happened sometime befonre
Septemben 1897. 1In Zhe summen of 1897 Bewlah Church held it's
annual week Long revival with two services a day, one Ain the agten-
noon and another at night. 1£ s said, that the revival preacher
(name unknown) preached boldly and powerfully against Liguorn with-
out fean. This gurthern inglamed the Liguon supporterns against ihe
church. So in Late August on early Septemben 1897 an atiempi was
made Zo buan the church. Torches werne used but they went out and
did Liitle damage. Several weeks Later the church was burned. Keno-
sene o4l had been poured on the church begorne it's being set on gire.
The §rame church on brick pillarns was completely burned. Who burned
the church? The answer that £s given 44 the bootleggers. Who were
they? 1% seems as Lhough names of suspects were at one iime known,
but are not nemembered foday. 1t 48 said Zhey were grom the Round
Peak Carnrofl County area, but beyond that Little s khnown. There
are no present count recornds to indicate anyone was ever trled gon
bwwing the church and the only swrwviving newspaper account apears
Lo be the following arniticle printed in Zhe Septemben 16, 1897 issue
of the Mount Ainy News and neprinted 4n Zhe 1976 Mount Adny News
Bicentennial Edition.

(September 16, 18§97)
INCENDIARIES BURN CHURCH

News was neceived here Satunday

04 the buwning of Bewlah Methodist
chunch, near Pine Ridge, Swuy

County, by incendianies. The tonch
was applied o this church several
weeks ago but the gine went out. This
Lime kerosene o4l was freely used

and the beautiful church edigice 448 in
ashes. Zhe Masons belonging to Zthe
different Lodges in the county Laid
the connen stone gorn this church
about eight yean ago, using the
impressive ceremonies oy the
praterunity on that occasdion. 1L 44
hoped the wicked parties will be
discovened and prosecuted fon thein
jiendish crnime.



22

You will note that the anticle states the fist churich was budllt
eight years befone, which gives us the 1889 date of the building
of the §inst church.

What a devestating Loss this must have been to the memberns of Beulah
Methodist Church. How they must have gathered that morning Looking at
the ashes of what had once been the church they had Labored and sacra-
ficed to build. The newpaper article calls it a "fiendish crnime," and
twly it was. What would the people do? Should they build again? 1§
they did, would the bootleggerns burn the church again? One can afmosz
jeel the pain of those women and girnls in thein Long dr Aes !
the men and boys <in bib overalls and hats. One can feel theirn dispair
and angen, but in spite of their sonnow theirn faith in Jesus and the one
twe God nevern faulted. Knowing these people as this wnitern has come
to know them, it would have been most probable that as they gathered
beside the ashes of the churnch that Rev. Sam Moore, the Assistant Min-
istern of the Mount Adry Cincudlt of Methodist Episcopal Churches and a
Leadern of the Bewlah Church, called Zhe people to prayer and in his
powerful voice Lifjted praise to God and then petitioned God to avenge
this awful crnime and to Lead this faithful bond; for after all it is the
faithgul people not the building that is the true church. 0Others many
have also shared their prayerns or scrnipture and Lf Jesse Richards was
there and he very Likely was then he may have Led in a song or Zwo.

It was also probably decided to hold church in the school house just
below the church until other arrangements could be made. A nider had
been sent to ingorm Rev. Rodgers o4 the burning, but Lt was that morn-
ing that the decision was made by the memberns that this church would
not be astopped.

Sounces: Mount Adny News. September 16, 1897 issue
BLue Ridge Breeses by J. M. Roland (1927)
Conversations with: Efmer W. Hodges, Robert Richards,
John Richards, Monty Wood, Stefla Ramey Carrnico,
Angelina Calloway Jurney, Rev. Arnthun Livengood.
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BEULAH METHODIST CHURCH FROM ASHES UNTIL TODAY

This wiiten 4s not sure where the chunch met §on worship forn the
give yearns grom the church burning in September 1987 until August
1902 when the church got "possession” of Zhe present building. The
Zeorum "possession” will be explained Laten in this anticle. 1t is
known that they continued o meet fon worship, as well as, to have
Sunday Schoof. Fon the nexxt several uvears, Rev. Sam D. Moore is
shown in the Quarterly Conference neconds, as being Assistant
Pastorn on the Mount Ainy Cirnewit. The Trustees of the church are
Listed as: W.V. Tucker, C. Faiel ATkins, Thomas Vaughn and G.

Le4s Athins. Ab Calloway was appointed Trustee afiern the death

of Thomas Vaughn in 1899. The church continued to meet, Zo have a
minister, Zo have a Sunday School, as well as an organized Epworth
League. The quarterly recond of giving toward the ministenr's

salarny and congerence and mission offernings are reported. What s
not known is where the church met duning this give year perdlod.

This weiten suggests iwo possibilities but can prove neithern. The
gt possibility 48 that they used the school house jusi down the
road grom the burned chwrch. That would have been the easiest
solution. 1t 48 doubZgul that the people anticipated it taking

give yearns begore they would have a pewmanent church building o¢
thein own. The school was there. 1£ was convenient and useable.
They may have afso built a brush arbor and used that during the
summen months. So this wuiter suggests Zhe above as one possible
answer as to where the church met gor the next give yearns. A second
possible idea s that they built a Log house on the church properiy
as a temporarny chunch. The only question this wuitern has about the
use of the school house i8 this: What if the people and the school
commiitee might have been afraid that ig the church used the school
that it too might also be butned by Zhe bootleggers? 1§ this was a
neal fearn then the school house might not have been available. This
gean also probably parnitly explains why it Zook three and a half years
fon the people Zo begin bulding the present building. A Log building
could have been comstructed with Little cost. A Lot of manpower
would have been required but there wes an abundant supply of that.




The only evidence to remotely suggest that the fLog stweture

m{ght have been used comes from Monty Wood, a ninety-give year

0ld nesdident of the Bewlah Community. Monty Wood movad into the
Bewlah Community with his parents around 1901. He went to the old
school below the church in the second ghrade around 1901 on 190Z. He
has no necollection of the school ever being used by the church to
meet {in. He has heard all his Life about the bootleggers burning

the church. When asked i§ he remembered hearning anything about the
02d church and how {t Looked he said, he believed it was a Zog church.
It 48 known that the §iwst church was a frame church. T4 a Zemporary
Log church was erected afifen the church bwwed (& would have stilL
been standing and wsed until around August, 1902. Monty Wood possibly
remembens seeding that Log church. 14 such a Log church existed L%
would have been dismantled and s0ld on erected somewhere else fon

some othen use. Monty Wood did go o the Beulah Methodisi Church
duning childhood. To furthern complicate matiens, Monty Wood says the
old school he attended was Zoan down and rebuwili at a new -sife near
Elmen Hodges present home above the chwrch. Elmer hremembers his gathen
telling him the ofd school below the church "was butned" but the date
0f the burning cannoi be determined at this point. 1& is known that
the ofd school property was s0fd in 1907 and that the schcol abeove the
church nean Efmern Hodges was in operation in that year but it cannoi
be deteumined when the school started operating. There would not have
been two schools that close togethern operating at the same time.

These two possibilities are presented for what they are, possibilities.
Hopegdully, at some point, Lt can be deternmined with certainty as Zo
whene the church met dwiing this five year period.

Rev. Jesse Pickney Rodgers was minister of Beulah Methodist Church and
other chunches on the Mount Airny Cirewlt at the time of the burning of
the Bewlah Church <n 1897. He also was minister in 189§. He was
succeeded by Rev. Benjamin Franklin Carpenter who setved for two yeas
in 1899 and 1900. Rev. Carpenter was gollowed by Rev. V.L. Marsh who
served gor two years in 1901 and 1902. 1% was during the ministry o4
Rev. B.F. Carpenter that the building of the new church was started
and completed. 1t was durning the ministry of Rev. V.L. Mawsh that
the church ginally got "possession”" of the church in 1902.  Following,
you will g§ind nemarks Zaken from the Mount Airy Quarterly Conference
neconds.
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November 17, 1900 "Bewlah Church which burned has not been nebuwlft"
May 4, 1901 "Our Church at Beulah is undeway of construction and
we hope Zo occupy it sometime Lin June."

July 20, 1901 "Our Church at Beulah 48 nearing completion and we
hope Zo soon occupy £Lt."

September 21, 1901 "Bewlah Church which was burned 4in 1897, has
been nebuilt this year. Payment thereog has not been adjusted.”
Januany 4, 1902 "We have not been able to get possession of owr new
church at Beulah."

August 30, 1902 "We have at Lasi got possession of our new church
at Bewlah."

From these entriies, we see £t took nearly three and a half yeans

agten the burning of the chunch L they stanted building a new one.
1t took nearnly six months o neport the chunch completed and Zthen
another yean Zo get "possession” of the church. Why did they wall s0
Long Zc stant building the new church? Several possible answerns exist.
1. They were hesifant to build gon fear of being burned ocut again.

2. Whazever zthe temporary arviangement fon a meeting place was, 4L

must have been satisgactony enough that they were not pushed to build
soonen, and 3. 1t would Zake money to build a new church. Money gon
saming wood, gon nails, noog, doorns, and windows as well as pews and
pulpil furnitune. The §insi chunch building had not been insured.
Probably all Zhree of these possible neasons for waiting to build the
new church were valid. Durning the ministry of Rev. B.F. Canpentenr,
the comstrwction was stanted and completed. However, when the builld-
ing was completed therne were not sufficient funds Zo pay the bills

and 50 a Lien was placed on the doon of Zhe church gorbidding anyone
to trnespass until the Lien was paid ofg. This was another great
discounagement. This simple but Lovely structure seil on the same spoZ
where the formen churnch had set. Where once was ashes a new church
had been built. Probably not as fine as the §inst church, but cen-
tainly big enough and nice enough Zo be proud of. Whether the membens
had been meeting in a school house or a Log chunch forn the Last five
yeans, the new church was betien than eithen and the people Longed %o
be in their new chunch. They had dreamed of that day. They had worked
and sacnificed and waited forn that day. Now another set back. They
had to wait Longen, they had to sacnifice mone. So Zhe church that
would noz be stopped did what they had to do. They waited and they
sacnificed morne. 1t 44 not known how much was owed on the new church,
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but money was scarce. It took almost a year, but with faith and
determination they pressed on. Finally, as the Quanterly Conference
minutes of August 22, 1902 state, they could say, "We have at Last
got possession of our new church at Bewlah." The church that would
not be stopped now gave praise to God and celebrated with Joy in
thein new church. 0, What a celebration must have taken place on
the Sunday they f§inst gathered in theirn new chunch.

The church had endured a Lot since that brush arbor meeting was

held at the site of the present cemetery at the Bewlah Methodist
Chunch. 1t 48 not known when the brush arbor meeting was held. 1%
could have been Ln 1886-1887, on 1888. 1t isn't known how much time
Lapsed between the baush anbor meeting and the time the fiwst church
was bullt in 1889 on the struggles the church had during that time.
However, the struggles of the chunch cauwsed by the buwning of the
church and the difgiculties experienced during the five yearns between
the buwwning o4 the girnst church and the dedication of the present
chutch ane known. In addition to the probLems previously stated,
there had also arnisen problems within the chunch fellowship <in 1899
that caused pain and division within the church family. Truly this
church gaced many stomms and struggles dwiing these early yearns.

The miracke 44 the chwrch fellowhip and the faith og Lts members were
strong enough to endure. Howevern, the secret to the miracle 48 gaith.
The gaith o4 a gew deternined Christians is strong enough £o move
mountains. The story of Beulah Methodist Church s a reafsirmation
0f the power of a small Christian community.

The ginst gfourn decades of the twentieth century were yearns of growth
and relative peace for the congregation of Beulah Methodist Church.
Using the 1908 Beulah Methodist List, the minutes of the Quarterly
Congenences of the Mount Alry Circuit, and church membership Lists
beginning 4in 1901, a &ist has been prepared of memberns who were
probably charter members orn those who joined the chunch before 1900.
(See that List in Histornical Data Section) That List may not be
complete and some charter memberns may have died and are unknown.
However, the List that has been compiled shows that in 1900 there
had probably been forty-eight members of the church who wene eithen
charter members orn who had joined between 1889 and 1900.



Five o4 Zhose are known Zo have died (possibly otherns) and figteen

had withdrawn on transfered their membership. Thenegore, grom the
Litile infonmaiion avallable to draw upon, it is esitimated that in
1900 there were iwenty-eight members of the chunch. The 1908 List
Shows s4ixty-s4ix members on the membership List with three deaths
Leaving sixty-three membens. 1% appearns Zhat an efgont had been
made %o remove those who had foined and had since died or withdrawn.
An increase in membership from twenty-eight to sixty-zthree in an
eight yean perniod is impressive. 11X 4s also noted that those who
withdrew grom membership 4in 1§99 have not renewed theirn membership,
howeven, it &is believed that by 190§ they were again attending the
church and active in the particapation o4 the church. This wiitern
does noi have many membership records Zo draw upon, but in the anticle
entitled A preaching day at Bewlah Methodisz Church 1921 (gound else-
where in this sketch) a List oy those who would probably have been

at that Preaching Day service tozals edighty excluding the miniszenr.
This List however, does include children who were noi members and

also possibly some adulis who aitended but werne nof membens. 1% should
also be pointed out that nelthen the 1900 gigures non the 1908 figures
show the children and non-members attending church and Sunday School
However, eighty-one in atiendance on Preaching Day 45 a good crowd.

Othen aitendance g§igurnes available o Zhis wiiten show that in 1943
thene wene sixty-ihree members with only thirnty-nine active. This
sigure howeven, does not show ithe number of children and non members
participating. In nineteen sixty six ihe membership dropped to iwenty
nine memberns. [(The wiiter understands an efgort was made Zo clean the
membership List nemoving the dead and those transfered). The number
04 active members L5 not shown nor is zthe numbern of children and oZhen
particpating non memberns. At present there are iwenty-gowr memberns at
Beulah, nine parnticipating non memberns and eleven children.

In tenms of membership Beulah has always struggled. When the church
was gormed in 1889 this community was predominantly Primitive Baptisi
and the Primitive Baptist strongly opposed the membership eggorts of
the Methodist. Following World War 11 many rural people particulorly
youngen people Legt the fanm for jobs in the cities. That inend con-
tnues today. ALso some have moved into Zthe Bewlah Communify grom
othen places. The membership reconds show, that the decline in memben-
ship in the church was caused 4in part by Zhe older members dying and
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the younger members moving Zo othen places. Many of whom have thans-
ferned their membership Lo othen chunches. Bewlah was never a Large
membership church, but it was Largen than it 4is today. 1t 4is also
cornect to say the chunch has probably not sought to attract members
as £t should have. The membership book shows that there have been
several occassions when there were numerows additions to the church
in a brief period of time. 1In 1922 and 1923, eighteen members were
recelved by Rev. T. A. Cook. Between 1931 and 1934 twenty-three
were heceived by Rev. Robert E. Warnd. ALso, the membership of the
church does not always nreflect the activity of the church. At times,
in this century, the chunch has had perdiods of activity and also
periods with hardly any participation at all. 1In gact, in 1971

and 1972 the conference attemped fo close the church and did nok
appoint a ministen to the church durning those two years. The few
active participants of the church resisted this effort and obtained
permission to use the church for Sunday School and worship services
conducted by Lay speakers. Then 4in 1973 the church was supplied
again with a ministen. 1t is also apparent to this wiitern that

a problem of Beulah, and other small churches Like it, «s5 the cin-
cult system. AL times, there have been as many as ten churches on
the Mount Airny circudlt, most often seven orn edight, for several years
in the Late 1960's and 1970's the circwits were changed and there
were three churches on the cirewdit. At present there are foun
chunches on the Mount Airny- Swuy-Circuit. Duning most of the
centurny of the churches existence, worship has not been held every
Sunday. Much of the §irnst §4i4ty yearns, church was held only once

a month and 4in the Last §ifty years most of the time Lt was held
twice a month. Today, worship takes place at Bewlah every Sunday

at 11 o'clock. Sunday School for the children L4 held at the same-
time. Sunday 48 sELLL celebrated as the Lond's Day at Bewlah. God's
people come to wornship Him and Lo acknowledge Him. 1In faith they
come to praise Him and to give thanks for His goodness and grace.

The Holy Word «s read. The Bread of Life 48 broken, prayers are
Lifted up, as well as, hymn's of praise. The Chaiistian community
called Bewlah United Methodist Church gathers in fellowship. The
numben of worhippers i8 small, but the fellowship is sweet. Sunday
s ATULL observed at Bewlah, much as it has been for the Last hundred
yearns. The church AL struggles. 1t has known no othet way. The
church foday is not the church Sam Moore and Friel Atkins and those
otherns, who helped establish the church, had dreamed it would become.
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They Lived Long enough to experience the struggles of <those early
years. The church is, also, not all the present members would have
Lt o be either. However, the present members are proud to be
witnesses of the chunches centennial, and if those instumental in
the churches beginning and intervening yeans are Looking down grom
Zhein Heavenly places, then they musi feel proud that in spite of

all the struggles the chunch has endured, it has Laszted gorn a hundred
years. Though it may not be the church they had envisioned, it has
senved the purpose fon which they Labored. Fon a hundred yearns the
church has been a Christian fellowship, caring and Zifiing up one
anothen. It has been thene to celebrate the joyful Times of receiving
new members, of celebrating maviiages as well as new binths. 1X has
also been a sournce of comgort and a pillar of stnength in times of
sonnow, grief and despain. The church, forn a century has proclaimed
the message of salvation and grace. The church has nuriured the
young in the pathways of Life Lo walk the way of Faith. The church
has encouraged zhe weak and guided the strong and the church has been
a witness forn Jesus Chist in Zhis communily for a hundred years.

1£ 48 this, that ihe churnch celebrates on this occasion o0f Lis
centennial. The church that would not be sitopped has noi szopped
and will nozt szop. Faith has been the watchword for the Last centurny
and gaith 4s the watchword as we move into Lthe second century.

Sounces: Mount Alwy Suwy Cirncudt Quarterly Conference Minwtes
Wesztern Nonth Carnolina Conference Annual Journals
1908 Membership Lisz of Beulah Methodiszt Episcopal Church -
Beulah Membership book beginning 1901
Conversations with: Elmen Hodges, Robert Richards, John
Richands, J.B. Spanger, Monty Wood, Huwiley Moore, Mallie
Carico Lawrence, Rev. Arthun Livengood.



BEULAH UNTTED METHODIST CHURCH TODAY AND THE NEXT CENTURY.

Bewlah United Methodist Church Zoday s a small (smalf in ways ex-
cept Ain fpaith] nural church in Western Swury County. Today, the
church ginds itselg existing in a troubled age. This is the elec-
thonic age, the age of Anstant communication, with vatious parts of
the world. 1t's the space age. The church and (&5 people §ind them-
selves Living in a society constantly on the move. 1t L5 a material-
istie soclety. 1t 4is a time when the family unit L8 in many cases
divided and distant. 1& 4is a Lime of moral decline and drug abuse.
It 48 a time in which our society has perhaps Lost iis direction.

1t 45 a time nipe gor a Chrnistian revival in our churches and 4in oun
Land. Bishop Bevel Jones, Bishop of the Westew: Noath Carolina Con-
gerence, recently shared his sentiments that people are Lost, have
Lost thein dinection and that the Methodist Church has the message

of God's Grace and redempiion. Bishop Jones said "This is a day of
gheat opporntunity gor the church o reach out to otherns and share God
message. It s a faithgul gew who have Labored hard during Beulah's
past thirty years. The church and community both need a God-Lead,
spiit-gilled revival and foin this author in praying that such a re-
vival will come.

At present there are twenty-gour memberns of Beulah United Metho-

dist Chunch. Some of those members do not actively attend but

most suppornt the church §inancially and when special causes arise.
The church does also, have at the present time nine adult particd-
pating non membens. The church very much appreciates them and though
they have not become memberns of the church they are very much a part
0f the church fellowship. 1In 1986 Sunday School for children was
stanted durning the worship hour. The church 45 very appreclative

of the Leadership of JoAnn McMillian, Vickie Cametron, Dale Whitgield,
and Libby Whitakern. There are eleven children enwrolled in Sunday
School. The church has a Chuistmas Program and an Easter Sun Rise
Service. Tudce a year the women of the chutch have community suppers
and bake sales, which 48 always well supported by the Community.

Forn zthe Zast three yearns, a successful Bible School has been held.
This year the church has celebrated its centennial with several
programs. Much has been Learned and the chuwrch people have a re-
newed sense of pride in the church's hertitage This Histornical
sketch 48 an outgrowth of that celebration.
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In the Last few years, three gamilies grom the Nornthenn States have
moved <nto the community and have become active in the church.
Unfortunately, one of the families retwwed to the Noath. This year
the chunch has been painted inside and out. Shrubbery has been
planted on the cemeteny side of ihe chunch, and glowers have been
planted also. On Septemben 22, Huwicane Hugo blew Zwo of the Large
trees oven on the cemeterny. Though some stones were knocked ovenr,
none were broken. As a part of the Centennial Homecoming Observance,
two Thees werne planted and dedicated. Those trees that were Lost, and
the sevenal remaining, were sianding at the Brush Arbor meeting back
before 1889 and have witnessed all the events since the church's
beginning, including the church's burning. These new trees planted
will obsenve Zthe church's activities in the century ahead. Paraments
gorn the pulpit and communion Zable have been purchased this year.
Two new funds have been created. The church improvement fund, which
has paid gor the painting of the church, along with a donation grom
the Swuy Boarnd og Missions. Money grom the church improvement fund
will be used to install pew cushions in the nean gutune. Another
fund that has been started is the cemetery and church grounds per-
petual care twst fund. Two thowsand dollans was set aside by the
church forn this and additional donations are being neceived. The
church's goal gorn this fund 4is $5,000.00 by the end of calendar yean
1989. A fornmal cemetery and church grounds perpetual care fund
document {8 being drawn up now, and the trusiees are to be appointed
at a special charge conference Later in the gall. The church 4is
appreciative of the donations received by gormer members, theirn
family memberns, and friends of Bewlah United Methodist Church. Hope-
fully, this report has been of interest io you. This wiilfer wants
evenyone to undenstand, that the spinit of the churnch and the Love
and concern the membens have forn one another {4 best described with
the wond, Chrisitian.

The memberns enjoy being Zogether and wonking together. God 4is
worshipped at Bewlah United Methodist Church every Sunday, and Zhe
children are being instrwcted in the Love of God. The gaith of the
members {8 sirong, and prayers are being said. The church's hope s
in Jesus Chnist and the church that would not be stopped, will noi
be stopped.
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Lead on, 0 King eternal, The day of march has come;
Henceforth in fields of conquest thy tents shall be ocur home,
Through days of preparation Thy grace has made ws strong,

And now, 0 King eternal, we LL§t our battle song.

Lead on, 0 King eternal, TLEL s4ins's fLence war shall cease,
And holiness shall whispen the sweet amen of peace.

For not with swonds Loud clashing, non £oll of stiviing drums,
With deeds of Love and mercy, The heavenfy kingdom comes.

Lead on, 0 King eternal, we follow, not with gears,

Forn gladness breaks £ike moaning where'ern Thy face appears.
Thy cross 5 Ligted over ws; we jowrney Ln Lt's Light;

The crown awaits the conquest; Lead on, 0 God of might.

Amen.

The wiitens personal knowledge, having served as associate
ministern on the Mount Alry - Swuy County Cireult for the
past gour yearns. "Lead on, 0 King Eternal" by Eanest L.
Shurtlef.



33

A PREACHING DAY AT BEULAH METHODIST CHURCH IN 1921

Let's take a journey with ourn minds back fo Zhe yean 1921. 1t is
preaching sunday at Beulah in Zhe month of September. This journey
takes us back sixty-eight yearns. Since this is preaching Sunday,
we know AL 44 the fourth Sunday oy Zhe month. Preaching was only
held at Beulah on the fowrth Sunday. This was because Beulah was
one of seven churches on the Mount Ay Circwlt. The other churches
on the cireuit wene Epwonth, New Hebron, Lawrel BLuff, Oak Grove,
Satem and Zion. Sunday Schoof was held every Sunday and for the
Last several years has been held even duning the winter months.
Rev. Geonge W. Williams &8 Zhe minisien on the cireult and with
Zhe help og Local preachers he s able to make a visit Zo all the
churches once a month. Sometimes, as L4 the case on this day, he
will be holding an afternoon service at New Hebron on his way back
to Mount Alry where he Lives.

Sunday School begins at Zen o'clock and wornship will begin at eleven
o'clock, if the preacher is on time. However, the church activities
on this day has stanted earnlier forn CLeve Atkins. The weather 435 on
the cool side gon Sepiembern and a0 CLeve has awilived at the church az
nine o'clock and as 48 his wsual habit in cold weather has started a
fine in the stove Zo warnd off the moaning chill. Cleve notices that
Zthe wood packed under the edge of the church 48 getting Low. He de-
eldes this would be a good day Zo bring up the seiling of a work day
at the chunch. This fall work day is an annual event at Beulah and
appears to be something everyone enjoys. The Leaves in the church
yard, as well as the cemetany, will need fo be raked. Broom straw
will need to be cut on burned. Some bushes will need Zo be grubbed
and wood will need o be cut and stacked gon the winter months. The
women of the church will probably give the inside of the church a
good cleaning. The stove, 4if need be, will be cleaned, the §Loons
swept, and the chimneys of the kernosene Lamps will be cleaned. The
women folks will bring food and Zhe people will not only wonk togethen,
but will also eat together. VYes, today would be a good day to make
plans gor the clean up day. The Leaves should be all down in a month.
That would be a good time Zo do it. ClLeve thinks Zhe wood will Last
until then. .



Willie Moorne walks to church and as wsual, he stops by the spring
and biings a bucket of water, which s placed on the communion
table beside the tin dipper. The people stant arvuiving by nine-
thinty. Country folk wsually get to places early. They come

riding mules, horses on in wagons ok buggies. The Welcome Richards
Family comes 4in thein two seated covered swury, pulled by two

mules. The families are Large and s0 many of the wagons and buggies
are full. 1§ needed, chains have been put in the back of the wagons
gon the women. However, many people sXilL walk to chuich. [Note:
1t's not until several years Latern that Jesse C. Richards gets his
can. He was the g§inst in the community to have one. ]

The women are dressed in Long dresses, and high ftop shoes with
buttons on the side. They also wear, elther bonnets or wide brim
hats, some of which, had galax Leaves on the side for decoration.
The men wore pants orn bib overalls. Some had a pair of Sunday shoes,
but many otherns wore theirn ELRin Brogans with a brass toe plate.
Most of the men wore hats. Many of the men had beards, mustashes

on goatees. The boys wore nickens and the ginls wonre Long dresses.

As the people gather, the women go on in the church fo visit until
time gon Sunday School. The men gather under the big oak thee in
gront of the church. The kids have Loits to talk about as school
has just stanted back.

At ten o'clock Willie Moore, the Sunday School Superintendent calls
everybody in. Sunday School begins with a hymn and a prayer. Agter
the prayern the people divide gfor their classes. The gfoun classes
ane held in the santuary, as there are no Sunday School nooms. The
cand class forn the Little children is taught in the front Left where
the choin sits duning wornship. The Primany and Junior classes meet
in the back corners. The adults gather nean the stove in the center
0f the church. The small children recite their memory verse grom
Last Sunday. They neceive a new card which has a Bible picture with
a new memory verse and on the back of the carnd «s a Bible Storny. The
Primany, Junion and Adult classes have bookfets. The Sunday School
teacherns were probably Anernica Richands, Miss Nora Atkins, and Ida
Moorne Janvis. Jesse Richands on Cleve Athins probably will teach
the adult classes. Aftern classes are over, the people come together
again gor announcements.

34
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CLeve Atkins Brings up the work day, the Last Saturday in Octoben

s set. The need to neplace the church roof has been discussed
several times begone. 1t has been decided that the church will put

on a play to haise money gor a new metal noof. The name of the play
i Hazel, and the participants have been practicing. The announcement
44 made as Zo when the play is %o be presented, and everyone s
encouraged to bring thein gamilies and neighbons. The play s being
dirnected by Miss Nora Atkins. Mallie Cawtico plays Hazel Adams, Willie
Canico plays Zhe Villian in seanch of a gortune. WiLLie Moore plays
Hazel's Beau. ClLeve Atkins and Jesse Richards, the Fain ginls and
othens are also in the play. (Note: The play was a huge success

and the cast were Lnvited Zo put on the play at Lion and at anothenr
chunch.) Announcements having been made, another song is sung and a
benediction 45 given.

The men visit under the oak thee and talk about the weather and crops.
The women nemain in the sanctuary and talk about home and cooking.They
also inguine about the health of otherns. The children play tag and
othern such games outside. A walk to the spring by Lhe young pecple

L8 park of Zhe morning's activities. A boy hollars "Here comes
Preachen Williams." The chldren go on into the church and take their
places. The men all speak Lo Rev. Williams and follow Rev. W.iLLiams
into the church. Agiern the preacher has had a chance to speak %o
everyone, the wornship service begins. Jesse Richarnds Leads the singing
while othen song Leaderns (choir) 84t to the Left of the pulpit. Amernica
Richards on Ida Moore Jarvis played the organ, depending upon which one
s not "with child". The church 48 necognized as a singing churnch. AL
a point during the service, the offering 48 taken up. During announce-
ments, Rev. Williams reponts on the churches mission program and asks
por venbal committments to help meet the goal. Varnious members
announce how much they can contribute. Some pledge 50¢, some $1.00

and 4c on. With that done, the preacher neads Seripture and begins

his powergul sermon. John and Sam Moore are the onfy ones Zo say a
Loved "Amen" to the preacher's strong wonds. Holloning and other
emotional outbunsts have almost died out at Bewlah.

The following people would probably have been at this church service

in Septemben, 1921: Cleve and Lou Atkins and their children, Uéngia,
Bettie and Gurtha Helen; Welcome and Viola Richards and their children
Mary Ruth, Robert and Little John;
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Jesse C. and America Richarnds and thein children Jean, Beulah,

Mary and Katherine; Sam Moore and children Alice, Mamie and Arnthur;
Ida Moore Jarnvis and hern husband Tabor Jarvis; John and ELLen Moore
and theirn children 0Livia, May and Granville; Pearl Moore MceCormick
and hen husband Joe McCommick and his children Wade, Sherman, Wilson,
Emony, Leona, Mallie and Mary and Joe and Pearl's children Lula, Car-
Lie, Mozelle and Alonzo; Willie and Lula Moore and son Rupert Moore;
Jesse H. and Mary Lane Richards and daughter Martha Jane "Patiie"
Richards; Jim Athins and Carie Vaughn Athins; Finley and Lizzie
Bobbitt Hawks and thein children Nina, Navada, Dina and Robert;

Sid Watll; Sam BolLes; Lucinda ELizabeth Carrico and her children
Willie, Mallie, Frank and Mary Ethel; Ab and Alice Beamer Calloway
and thein son James; Celdia Calloway and children Jessie and Essdie;
Dora Puckett; Levia A. Richands sparger and her husban Jim have come
for the gourth Sunday preaching at Beulah and Zo visit gamily, grom
beyond Mount Airny; Tda Peark Carrnico Amburn and daughter Rosdie; Frank
and Ida May "Dofly" Hodges and children Elmer and Mary Jennie; ClLaude
and Stella Ramey. That ftotals up to eighty one present including Rev.
Geonge W. Williams.

Two o4 Zhe Bewlah folks gavornite Hymns were sung durning the wornship
serwvice. They were "Amazing Grace" and "When the roll s called up
yonder."

Following the senmon, Rev. Williams always gave an alter call and
opened the doorns of the church fo necedive memberns. 1t s Asadd,
people often came fo the mournerns bench (altern] where prayers were
sald with them. The service concluded with a benediction.

Agten church the people would Lingern awhile before returning Lo
thein homes. Rev. Williams would go home with one of the families
gor dinnern. The preachers coming gor dinner was a special event for
the entine gamily. The meal was bountiful and the children on theirn
best behavion. Much preparation had been made in the previous week.

Around three o'clock many of the people retwwned to the church forn a
hymn s4inging and additional socializing. This agtermoon singing did
not take place every Sunday, but was held on many Sunday agterncons

in the months of favorable weather. Jesse Richards always Led the sing-
ing with his Loved and melodious voice.
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America his wife played Zhe ongan. This hymn sdinging Lasted tilL
g<ve o'clock and again agfern parting they neturned Lo thein homes.
Such Sunday celebrations and worship, as well as, chrisiian g§ellow-
ship did much Zo build a sense of a caring community of gaith. Their
spinits werne neplenished. Theirn gaith was sirenthened and nurturned.
Such a church would not be sZopped.

Sounces: Congerence Jowwnals

Conversations with: Elmen Hodges, John Richands, Robert Richards,
Vengie Lowe, Mallie Carrico Lawrence, Willie "BLLEZ" Canrnico, Stella
Ramey Carnico, Hurley Moore and J. B. Spangenx.
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HISTORICAL SHORTS

This section s to provide Lnfjormation on several subjects of
interest, not presented in the articles of part one.

The Physical Church

Little 48 known about the appearance of the §irnst church. The
cornnen stone of the finst church was Laid aby the Masons in an
Aimpressive ceremony. The church was a grame building on brick
pillows. Elmen Hodges nememberns as a child, seeing the survivding,
burned bricks in a pile at the church. Judging from the amount

0f broken glass undern the chunrch, there were a Lot of windows. The
church was probably about the same size as the present one. The
outside of the present sanctuarny has changed Little. The pews are
ornuginal to this building. The pulpit area has the same appearance
as {5 nemembered by the olfder members. There are four sash windows,
jointed and pegged at the cornerns, on each side of the church. When
the educational building was added in the Late 1950's, the front
window on the night side was Lost to make a doorway Linto the edu-
cational building. As farn back as anyone can remember, the outside
of the church has always been painted white. The insdide has pine
tloons and the ceiling and walls were covered with beaded boards.
Laten, sheetrock was added to the walls with the beaded cediling,
wainscoting sLLL showing at the bottom. There are three rows of
pews with fwo centen aisfes. The wood stove L5 Ain the center
(towarnd the front] of the church with the stove pipe going straight
up. There was a sandbox around the stove, there were kernocsene Lamps
between the windows, mounted on the wall on each sdide. There were
two Lamps on each sdide wall. A Large pull down kerosene Lamp was
Located in the centern of the church on the gfront sdide of the stove.
Two kerosene Lamps wene Lighted behind the mindister. Electric
Lights wene put in the church in 1947. Jesse C. Richards and his
song Leadens (choin) werne to the Legt of the pulpit. The organ
stood near where the pilano stands today. In the 1930's the stove
was moved over on the Left sdide of the church between the fiwst and
second window.
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A gas gurnace wes insiclled in The eanly 1950's. There has never
been a sieeple on the church non any kRing og a bell used at the
church. 1In Zhe book, Simple Treasures published by Zhe Sunw County
Histornical Sociely and based on an Architectuwral Survey of Swuw
County done by Launa A.W. Phillips, Zhe goflowing comments are made
abouxt Bewlah Methodist Church. "One o4 the Leasi aliened and
thenedorne, besi examples of the Late nineleenth on early iwentieth
centuny chunch in wnal Suvwy County 4is Beulah Methodist Chunch nean
Bottom. 1% is a one-sztory, wectherboarded grame structure wizth
steeply piiched gabel noog, two separate ghoni doorns, a now of tall
sash windows down either side of the buillding, and a Longitudinal
axis on the interion.” The church was under pineed in the 1940's on
eanly 1950's. The noof was possibly wooden shingles ic begin with.
1z is believed a metal noof was installed in the earlfy 1920's and
nemained uniil 1987 when an asphalil/gibernglass/shingle noog was added.

The beautiful pictune of Chrnisi hanging behind the pulpit has bdeen
a gocal point oy Zhe sanctuany since 1937. 1% 48 said the

pictune was given o the chunch by a departing minisier and his
wige. Ig that is comrect then X would have been given by Rev. and
Mrs. L.J. Hackney. The original painting wes painted by Herbert
Becenoft. On Zhe back og the painiing are zhese wonds, "And Jesus
Zunned and Looked upon Peter, and Peter remembered.” (Luke 272:617)

1937.

Sounces: Simple Treasunes by Laura A.W. Phillips, and conversations
with tlmen Hodges, Robert Richards, John Richarnds, Carnlie
McConmick, Mafllie Carico Lawnence, BLLEL Carico, Hurley
Moore, Verngie Lowe, and Rev. Anthur Livengood.

Annual Summer Revival

From Zhe earnlieszt of necollections, a summer revival was held at
Bewlah, Laszing a §ull week. Two services would be held each day,
one Lin zthe agternoon and another at night. The crowds aitending
these nevival meetings would oglen Times overglow the church and
people outside could hear ithe preaching ihrough Zhe open windows.
Hurley Moore (bomn 1902) recalls his gamily out suckening iobacco
and his gather saying, "Come on, it's time Zo go Zo meeting."



At these meetings, people would often times get "pilled with the
Spinit", on "get happy". They would shout, clap their hands, cry

and 40 fonth. ELmern Hodges rememberns at one such hevival servdice, that
John Moore was there with his grandson. John Moore goZ "happy" and
jumped up and was walking back and §orth up and down the aisle of the
chunch, clapping his hands and hollening. His grandson did not undern-
stand what was going on and was following his grandfather up and down
the aisle saying "What's wrong Pappy, What's wrong, What's hurting you?"
Often times Zthere werne mowwerns who came Lo the alifar unden conviction.
Mighty conversions took place at such revival services and almost
always several would join the church duwuing revival week.

Sounces: Conversations with: Elmer Hodges, Rodent Richards, Hwiley
Moore, John Richards, Mallie Carnico Lawrnence, BLZL Carico,
Stella Ramey Carnico, Verngde Lowe and Carnlie McCommick and
J.B. Sparger.

Communions at Beuwlah

Communions at Beulah are now held gquarnterly, however, that is a

necent practice. Sometimes, communion was held only once a year.
Sometimes, more often and sometimes even Less ogten. Cornrnie Athins,
Jim Athins' wige, was communion steward back in the early part of

this century. She brought the starched table cloths for Zhe communion
table, as well as, home made bread and homemade grape juice. The
people would go to the altar to recelve communion as L5 sEULL the
Methodist custom. The grape juice was taken from a common glass

and passed §rom one person Lo the next.

Sounces: Conversations with Efmen Hodges, Verngie Lowe, Robert
Richands, John Richards.

The Coming o4 Zthe Docton

In 1899, Dr. John Lewis Benfamin Woltz and his wife, Iss4ie Richards
Woltz were necelved by Certificate into the membership of Beulah
United Methodist Church. They were recelved grom Mountain City
Wission, Mountain City, Temmessee of the Holston Conference. In
1900 Dn. Woltz is Listed as being the secretary of Beulah Church
Conference. Da. Woltz was raised in Dobson, the son of Da. John
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Raines Pickens Woltz and Lowisa Julia Kingsbury Woltz. Drn. John
Woltz .and wife had moved to Dobson in 1871 and practiced medicine
thene. Issie Richands Woltz was the daughter of Jesse H. and Mary
Lane Richards and grew up in the Beulah Community. Dr. and Mns.

Woltz Lived next Zo the Richands place in Bewlah. 1t is not known
how Long Dr. and Mns. Woltz Lived in the Bewlah Community, but it

L5 known that by 1914 they had moved Lo Mount Alry where Dr. Woltz
practiced medicine for many yearns. Dn. Woliz and Mns. Woltz wene
both highly esteemed by the people of Beulah. Aftern Dn. Woltz moved
fo Mount Ainy, he continued fo Doctor many o4 the Beulah people. This
wiiter has been told that in the glu epidemic of 1918-1919, Dr. Woliz
tended many people in the Bewlah area. While the Woltz family Lived
in Zhe Bewlah Community, they nemained aciive in Zhe Beulah Methodist
Church and neturned on special occasions and kept wanm griendships
with the people of the church and community. Thedin son, Howarnd 0sler
Woltz, prominent Mount Airy Attonney, spent much time in the Beulah
Community as a boy, staying with his grandparents duning the summer,
and had fond memonies of the Beulah Community and also of Bewlah Church.

Sounces: Quarterly Congerence minutes of Mount Adny Circudt, Mount
Ainy News, Conversations with Efmen Woltz Hodges, Robert

Richands, John Richands.

The Bewlah Methodist Cemetery

The quiet and peaceful cemetery Lying next to the simple white
country church, contains one hundred and twenty-give marked graves
and probably a number of unmarked graves. The oldesi marked grave

s Zhat of W.N. Athins who died March 4, 1901. He is believed to
have been the son o4 C. Friel Athins and Malinda E. Atkins. The next
oldest grave {4 that of Buddie F. Wood, three day ofd son of R.W. and
Sarah Wood, who died Apnil 19, 1901. They died and were buried

about sd{x weeks aparnt, but {t is cunious Zthat there L4 40 much
distance between the grnaves. Athins {5 nean the front and Wood Lis
near the back. ALso bunied in the cemetery are veterans of the

Civdil Warn, Worlkd War I, World War 11, and the Korean Conglick.

Hwwuiicane Hugo, on Friday, September 22, 1989, blew two century old
trees upon the cemetery. Several monuments were knocked over, but
none were broken.
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One o4 the projects of the church during this centennial year has
been the establishment of a cemetery and church grounds, perpetual
care twst gund.

In the rear of the cemetery there are sixteen graves marked only

with a concrete block at each grave. These graves were in a cemeterny
on the property of the present day Bewlah Efementany School. The
ghaves were removed 40 construetion could take place at the school.
There seems to be nothing known at this tume as to whoe L5 buwiied in
these ghraves.

Sources: The cemeterny itself, Conversations with E€mer Hodges, John
Richards, J.B. Sparger.

The Building of the Education Building

In the Late 1950's, the church, with around forty people participating
at the time, welcomed theirn new minister, Rev. Anthun Livengood and
gamily. Socon thereagtern, the need for an Education Buillding was
discussed. Up until that time, Sunday School was held .in the various
cornens of the Sanctuary. ALL classes were meeting in different
cornens of the same room, which was not the best situation. So the
plans forn the present Education Building were drawn up. The building
has four class rooms as well as a Large fellowship hall and restrooms.
The members of the church had no money in the bullding fund, but with
a Lot of determination and hard work. the building was completed. 1%
has been said the Education Bulding would not exist were it not §or
the Leading and work of Rev. Livengood. Rev. Livengood at the Lime
was also sELL working with Piedmont Adirn Lines. A number of his
frniends became interested in the projfect and helped the church put on
several Banbeque chicken supperns, which were quite successful.

DeWhitt Fowlen, a member, and skilled carpenten, helped do a Lot of
the work. He also helped show other memberns what to do. Nearly

all Labor was donated by membens of the church. John MLdRi{§ hardware
donated the materials forn the noof of the building and the Woltz
gamily donated the granite bricks forn the outside walls. Donations were
made gor the windows. Some money had Zo be borrowed with variows
membens Aigning the note. The Educations Building 4is connected to
the sanctuary on the nontheast side. Bathrooms wene built but not
ginished £i£L around 1973 when Elmer Hodges donated money for a well
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and sepiic system and the bathroom gixtunes. Durning one of the
meetings, when this was being discussed, it was noted that up until
1973 the chunch did not even have outside toilets, only Lots of
trees. Davdd Whitfield, a new membern and transplant grom Zhe North
nemarked, "These Methodisis must have been primitive Methodists."
The Education Building has been a big asset %to the church even
since, and 50 have the bathrooms.

Sounces: Conversations with Efmen Hodges, John and Mildred Richards,
J.B. and Goldie Spangen, Rev. Anthur Livengood.
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BEULAH METHODIST CHURCH

By Juanita Carpenter and Hazel Bullin

The deed to Beulah Methodist Church is in Surry County, N.C., Deed
Book 28, page 20 at the Regiser of Deeds Office at Dobson. It reads
as follows:

Methodist Episcopal Church South from W. K. ATKINS & others.
This indenture made this the 6th day of April A.D. 1892 be-
tween W. K. ATKINS and J. H. ATKINS of Surry and WILLIAM
BARTLETT and E. C. BARTLETT his wife of the County of Gray-
son and State of Virginia of the first part and the Methodist
Episcopal Church South of the second part for and in consid-
eration of the sum of $5.00 and in further consideration of
the love of the cause of Christ and the aforesaid church hath
given granted sold in fee simple forever a certain tract or
parcel of land lying and being in the County of Surry State
of North Carolina on the waters of Beaverdam Creek bounded

as follows, Beginning at a black gum from the North East
corner of the Church at the bank of said creek runs South

to a Sowerwood thence South 50 deg. West 6 ch. to a moun-
tain oak, thence North 40 deg. West 5 ch. to a black gum
sprout thence North 50 deg. East 6 ch. to the beginning
containing 3 acres.

The following list is taken from the Register of the Mount Airy
Circuit Methodist Episcopal Church South revised June 15, 1908. The
book is in the possession of the pastor of Salem Methodist Church,
Route 4, Mount Airy, N.C.

ATKINS, C. F. RICHARDS, M. J. SNOW, Fred

ATKINS, Cleveland RICHARDS, Livia A. HODGES, Ida May
ATKINS, James ROBERTSON, W. M. MARTIN, Louisa Victoria
ATKINS, Nora M. SUTPHIN, Mary MOORE, Arthur Odell
ATKINS, Almedia F. VERNON, Laura HARDY, Hauston (7)
ATKINS, Nevada WOOD, Wm. R. HAWKS, William
ATKINS, W. R. WO0OD, Sarah CARRICO, Frank
ATKINS, K. H. WOoOD, Mary J. PUCKETT, Lizzie
AMBERN, Elizabeth WOODRUFF, Mrs. Julia MOORE, Willie
CALLOWAY, A. M. MOORE, Ida Victoria JUBE, Jube
CALLOWAY, E. E. MOORE, Granville HARDY, John
CALLOWAY, Celia SEXTON, Robert M. HARDY, Dock

OAKLEY, J. A. SEXTON, Mrs. Robert M. HAWKS, Luily
OAKLEY, Mrs. J. A. SEXTON, L. E. HAWKS, Lizzie
OAKLEY, Martha SEXTON, Mattie E. HAWKS, Lola

OAKLEY, Mabel CONNELLY, Sarah Jane HAWKS, Dina
JARRELL, Richard W. RICHARDS, A. A. HAWKS, Revada
JOHNSON, Jno. W. HALL, Ella HAWKS, Bertha

FARMER, George WOODRUFF, Boyd HAWKS, Robert



MATTHEWS, Mrs. MNancy CARRICO, Lucinda Eliz AMBURN, Etta

PUCKET, Mrs. Dora AMBERN, Ida Pearl
RICHARDS, Jesse C. MOORE, Mamie May
RICHARDS, Mrs. Mary CARRICO, Mary Ethel

The following deaths were listed in the Church Register for Beulah
Methodist Church that were before death records were kept in Surry
County, North Carolina:

ATKINS, Nevada 3 February 1909
ATKINS, W. R. 14 October 1908
JOHNSON, Jno. W. Before 1909

Beulah Methodist Episcopal Church began in 1888 as a Brush Arbor
meeting, and in 1889 the first church was built. The property was
deeded to the church in 1892 by W. K. and J. H. Atkins and W, M. and
E. C. Bartlett. The first church was burned in 1897 (see article be-
low). The present church was built in 1901.

(September 16, 1897) . :
Incendiaries Burn Church

News was received here Salurday
of the burning of Beulah Methodist
church, near Pine Ridge, Surry
county, by incendiaries. The torch
was applied to this church several
weeks ago but the fire went oul. This -
time kerosene oil was freely used
and the beautiful church edifice is in
ashes. The Masons belonging to the
different lodges in (he county laid

' the corner stone for this church
" about eight years ago, using the
. finpressive ceremonies of the
fraternity on that occasion. It is
hoped the wicked parties will be
~ discovered and prosecuted for their
fiendish crime, - ey y

47



LIST OF MEMBERS BEFORE 1900
This wiiten has not been able to Locate a List of the chatter memberns

04 the church at this point.

48

The earliest availlable List of members

of Beulah Church 45 a 1908 &ist, which 45 Located 4in the records of

That List is printed elsewhere in this sketch.

This waiter has prepared the gollowing List, based on that List and

othern entries found in the Mount Airny Circudlt Quarterly Conference Minutes from

Salem Methodist Church.

1897-1901,

with 1901, (Note:

been removed grom the membership List)

and the Beuwlah Methodist Church membership List begimning
Members who had died on withdrew before 1900 had
This wiiten has added fo the

List the names of those who withdrew before 1900, as well as, those

whose deaths had been reported prior to 1900.

There could have been

othen charter memberns whose deaths were not repornted in the Mount Adiny
Circuit Quarnternely Congernence minutes. Also, no quarterly congerence

necornds are availabe gfor the Dobson Circult.

So any withdrawals on ne-

pornted deaths begfore 1897 are not know, as Beulah was on the Dobson Cin-

cult prior to 1897.

This 45 the most complete List this wiiten can he-

create and many have omitted some members for which there {8 no documen-

tation.

C. Faiel Athins

G. Lefg Athins

John Heath Atkins
Nora M. Athins
Almedia F. Athins
Nevada Atkins
William R. Athins
Kempern H. Athins
William K. Atkins
W. N. Athins?

Joel Ayens

Martha Ayerns

Ab M. Calloway

E. E. "Bettie" Calloway
Jonathan W. Johnson
Fannie Matthews

W. M. Matthews

W, P. Matthews

Mrs. ELiza Moonre
ELLen Moore Sna.

Ellen Moore Ji.

John Moore

K. T. Moore

Sam D. Moore

Annie Nall

Marny Nail

J. A. Oakley

Mrws. J. A. Oakley
Jesse C. Richanrds
Léivia A. Richards
Martha Jane "Pattie" Richards
Mrs. Mary C. Richards
William M. Robertson
Charles Semmons
John L. Sutphin

Mary Sutphin

W. Y. Tucken

Mns. Martha Vaughn
Thomas Vaughn

James Vestal

LIST OF MEMBERS WHO WERE PROBABLY CHARTER MEMBERS OR WHO JOINED THE CHURCH BY 1900

Sanah Vestal

William R. Wood

Mary J. Wood

Mrs . Julia Woodruf 4
Dn. J. L. Woltz (1899)

Mns. T1ssie Richards
Woltz (1899)



BEULAH UNITED METHODIST CHURCH MEMBERSHIP, 19§9

Louw CLigZon

Betty Cockerham

Judy Cockesrham

Sonny Cockerham

Polly Hall

Cheryl Spargern Hawks
Noama Simmons Haynes
Mary ELLen Hodges
Annie McCoamick
Lorene Moore McHone
Jerny Moore

Luann Moore

Luta Moonre

John L. Richands, Sn.
Lynn Richanrds

Mildred Richards
Robent Richands

Donis Scoit

Kathleen Moore ShackLefonrd
Goldie SLuden Spargen
Joseph Bryson Spargen
Nancy Cecil Swuratt
Dale Whitgield

David Whitfield

Participating Non-Members

Vickie D. Cameron
Gray Goins

Rowena Goins

Jan Hatll

Kevin Hawks

Jernry Kedp
Shirley Keip
JoAnn McMillLian
Libby R. Whitakenr

Tim Whitaken

Childnren

SZeven Butenra
Mary Cameron
MeKay Cameron
Chrnistopher Lawson
Emily Ann Lawson
Jenniger Mwiray
Laurie Murray
Scott Sardlen
Danny Whitaken
Denick Whitaker
David Whitgield
William Whitfield
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BEULAH METHODIST CHURCH MINISTERS

Methodist Episcopal Church South

1885
1886
1887
1888
1889
1890
1891
1892
1893
1894
1895
1896
1897
1898
1899
1901
1903
1905
1906
1907
1909
1910
1912
1913
1915
1916

1918
1920
1922
1924
1925

1927
1928
1931
1935
1937
1938

Dobson Circuit

Surry Circuit
Mt. Airy Circuit

1900
1902
1904
1908
1911
1914
1917
1919
1921
1923

1926

1930
1934
1936

1940
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York

. York

. Richardson
« Price

. Dawson

. Perry

Perry

. Tucker
. Douglas

Dixon

ic olas Mallory

(

- J.

h
D. Moore
P. Rogers
P. Rogers
F. Carpenter
L. Marsh
L. Hutchins
L. Dawson (supply)
C. Ballard
E. Barnhardt
W. Kennedy

o Da
M
R
M
W.
He
P
W
A
Q

Gibson

. Jackson
. Allison
. Folger

Bennett (Beulah, Epworth New

bron, Oak Grove Salem, Zion)

Jimison

Williams

Cook

Tuttle

S. Walker (supply) (Beulah, Epworth

(New Hebron,0ak Grove, Imogene, Pleas-

ant View, Salem, Zion)

J. A. Cook

H. M. Wellman

R. E. Ward

J. L. Ingram

W. J. Hackney

I. L. Sharpe (Beulah, Epworth, New Hebron
Oak Grove, Pleasant View, Zion, Salem)



The Methodist Church (1939)

1941
1944
1945
1946
1947

1948
1949
1951
1956
1958
1960
1961
1962

1963
1966

1943

Surry Circuit

1950
1955
1957
1859

1965

1967 Dobson-Beulah

Charge

ni Methodist Church

1967
1971
1972
L1973
1975
1976
1977
1978
1979
1980
1981
1982
1985
1986
1986
1994
1996
1996
1997

1970

1975
1976

(Dobson-Beulah)

(Surry Circuit)

1983 Mt. Airy-Surry

1994
1996
1996
1997

Circuit

M. W. Heckard (63 members, 39 active)
Robert Carter

Robert Carter

Robert Carter

Robert Carter (Beulah, Hebron,
Imogene, Maple Grove)

Ross Francisco

Fred G. Flemming (Supply)

J. S. Gardner (Supply)

J. S. Gardner (Approved Supply)
Ernest V. Stevens/Arthur Livengood (S)
Arthur Livengood (Approved Supply)
Forrest E. Church (Supply)

Forrest E. Church (Beulah, Epworth,
Hebron, Imogene, Maple Grove)

Ross Francisco

Donald C. Davis (Elder) (29 members)

James R. Calloway

No appointment

No appointment

Lewis Ray O’ Ferrell (LP)

Clyde Wayne Allen

Morris Borgman (LP)/Tom Hayes
Morris Borgman (LP)/Leon Yost
Bobby Green (A)/ Leon Yost

Bobby Green (A)

Michael A. Shuford (SLP)

Baxter Proffitt (FL)/ M. Shuford
Lee Money (SLP)

Roger Tucker (RM)

J. Wayne McMillian (SLP)

Assoc. Dennis W.“Bud” Cameron (SLP)
Ronnie Williams (PTLP)

Dennis W. “Bud” Cameron (PTLP)
Assoc. Gregory R. Matthews (PTLP)
Assoc. Ted Turner (PTLP)
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BEULAH UNITED METHODIST CHURCH CEMETERY

Ruby H. Calloway
James H. Calloway
Alice B. Calloway
Abb M. Calloway

Elizabeth E. Calloway

William K. Atkins
Infant Son

Ronnie M. Edwards
Patricia M. Edwards
John Lewis Richards
Martha Matthews

Alexander Actkins

W. N. Ackins
Malinda E. Atkins
C. F. Ackins

G. Cleveland Atkins
Sara Lou Atkins
Gertha Helen Frye
Kemper H. Atkins
Infant Son

A. Frank Hodges

Ida (Dolly) Hall Hodges

Martha J. Richards
Jess H. Richards

M. A. Richards
Pettys G. Richards
Viola G. Richards
Welcome G. Richards
David Francis
Maggie L. Francis
Dorothy L. Francis
C. M. Creed

Tommy Lincoln Creed

Robert L. Creed
Pauline V. Creed
Alfred D. Creed
Pearley R. Creed
George W. Creed
William A. Southern
Geneva C. Southern
Lucinda E. Carico
A, J. Carico

Nancy A. Oakley

Failes Puckett

05-07-1925
02-17-1920
04-05-1878
05-07-1864
06-16-1861
01-26-1866
03-24-1941

04-08-1964
05-28-1965
08-04-1948
05-14-1880

06-16-19--

03-20=1879
12-24-1846
07-10-1854

1885

1883
09-12-1924
03-28-1880

1908
11-22-1872
04-02-1879
05-26-1868
03-17-1840
10-22-1837
05-18-1913
05-23-1891
12-24-1891

1880

1885
12-20-1911
12-10-1884
08-12-1930

10-13-1922

1936

1937
03-16-1897
10-07-1890
02-24-1906
12-03-1915
08-15-1863
03-08-1861
01-21-1887

1912

Still living

02-26-1974
02-25-1972
10-03-1929
12-07-1916
10-15-1908
03-27-1941

04-14-1964
05-28-1965
12-18-1972
03-25-1943

12-04-1912

03-04-1901
05-26-1902
05-04-1921

1950

1953
01-29-1975
02-16-1939

06-16-1956
12-19-1959
11-11-1965
03-16-1925
01-16-1956
06-24-1914
03-06-1989
03-04-1945

1965

1948
02-01-1947
11-05-1942
03-18-1958

07-18-1940
1961

PFC U.S.Army WWII

wife of A. M. Calloway

(Son of D. C. & Betty

Cockerham)
(Children of Henry
and Georgia Edwards)

(Wife of C. L. Mat-—

thews and daughter of

Jack & Winnie Key)
(Son of C. F. and S.
A. Atkins)

(Wife of C. F. Atkins)

(Kemper H. Atkins)

Co. A 38 VA Inf. C.S.A

(Cpl. 622 Engr. Avn.
Mant. Co., Korea)

Still living

10-26-1973
06-04-1980
12-10-1981
12-06-1963
04-05-1926
06-11-1932
08-21-1906

1918

(Wife of A. J. Carico)

(Daughter of J. A. and

S. A. Dakley)
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Huey Puckett

Celia Callaway

Bill Callaway
Virginia Brent Sparger
J. Frank Sparger
Margaret Crowe Brown
Docia Brown

Arthur 0. Moore

Ruth Moore Edwards
George Bolden Moore
John Lillian Amburn
Leona Amburn

Shirley Esta Montgomery

1919
05-03-1872
03-30-1873
12-22-1858
01-23-1890

1870
11-04-1898
10-27-1899
08-29-1927
01-05-1909
04-08-1886
04-30-1917

11-24-1935

Ivylyn Imogene McCormick 2-12-1928

Billy Gray McCormick
Pearl Moore McCormick
Eligah Joseph McCormick
Wilson Mccormick

Dan Martin

Vick W. Martin

Sally Puckett

Dora Calloway Puckett
Jube Puckectt

M. Tabor Jarvis

M. H. (Bettie) Jarvis

04-18-1932
12-15-1896
03-21-1869
05-23-1901
06-01-1867
06-03-1867

1925

1883

1884
09-07-1893
12-10-1891

Rebecca Lorene McCormickll-15-1891

Audrey A. McCormick
Unmarked

Unmarked

Gertrude Ellen Moore
Willie Edgar Moore

10-09-1921

08-23-16975
02-12-1975

Funeral Home Marker - no name

Guy C. Golding
Elizabeth Wood
Rock - no name

02-14-1914
05-22-1845

Funeral Home Marker - no name

Edgar D. Mahone

Lola B. Wood

W. David Wood

W. Green Wood

William Bradford Wood
James L. Bowles
Lessie E. Bowles
Robert S. Bowles
Annette Bowles

Rosa Lillie Shinault
Etta Shinault

Manuel Shinault

06-02-1954
05-13-1908
10-18-1944
06-07-1900
08-16-1948
08-05-1912

05-26-1889

07-28-1873
03-03-1895
12-20-1874

Funeral Home Marker - No name

Sammy Ray Shinault

08-07-1961

1921
05-13-1957
05-29-1958
07-18-1934
07-19-1956

1958
04-11-1978
11-04-1967
08-09-1978
12-25-1959
04-28-1969
01-22-1937

09-02-1936
08-07-1929
06-11-1933
06-09-1956
12-10-1952
11-23-1977
02-02-1920
01-13-1914

1925

1968

1940
01-12-1962
12-14-1978
12-14-1978

(N.C.

Pvet.

Eng. WW I1)

(Wife of Ervin Mont-

gomery )

11-02-1969 (Sl USNR WW II)

(age 59 years 27 days)
(age 77 years 1 month

8 days)

09-17-1963 (PFC Calvary WW I1)
11-26-1918 (Wife of G. W. Wood)

10-13-1975

Still living
Still living

11-30-1971
07-11-1975
08-25-1913

06-22-1917

10-23-1977

1922
05- -1936
09-09-1936
06-15-1957

08-08-1961

(SP4 U.S. Army)

(Son of R.

S. and

L. E. Bowles)
(aged 23 years, Wife

of R. S.

Bowles)



Gracie Evola Shinault

No Name - Funeral Home Marker
No Name - Cross

James M. Shinault

Annie H. Hodges

Eldridge P. Hodges

John A. Clonch

Polly Cloncz

Richard J. Moore

G. H. W. (No other information)
Bettie Elizabeth Woods

John J. Moore

Ellen H. Moore

Mary Sue “Mae” Moore Hughes
Mary M. Hughes

Stump

Lula S. Gordon

Uless G. Gordon

Buddie F. Wood

Glenn H. Wood

05-14-1907

04-02-1902
04-02-1902
12-14-1902
1892
(No Date)

04-26-1889
09-20-1902
09-17-1863
04-07-1862
03-23-1899
03-01-1910
10-04-1904
04-16-1901

09-05-1909

08-04-1989

12-23-1970
01-24-1973
07-18-1976
1980

08-09-1965

09-20-1202
10-10-1935
02-27-19%46
G7=01-1875
1978

06-30-1982
04-16-1901
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(Rge 82)

(Age 79)

(Son of

R.W.and Sarah Wood)

1910

(Son of R. W.

and Sarah Wood)

16 marked graves at rear of cemetery removed from graveyard located

on site of present day Beulah School.

These omitted in first printing:

Mary Ruth Richards
Daniel Mark Cockerham
David Michael Cockerham

These buried in cemetery since September 1989:

Lula S. Gordon

Jim Moore

John Richards

Elmer Hodges

Vergie Atkins
Winfred Allen Moore
Lula Mae Cockerham
Nellie Hawks Golding
Susan McCormick Nadeau
Grady Wilson Wood

M. Stone

07-02-1910
11-04-1956
11-04-1956

03-01-1910

12-18-1919
05-17-1909
Q=1 3=1L917
01-07-1929
07-23-1923
06-26-1916
08-05-1959
01-26-1930
07-04-1993

(No inscriptions)

12-02-1972
12-13-1956
12-13-1956

08-07-1996
10-20-1996
03-18-1993
08-03-1994
05-30-1991
03-02-1993
05-16-1997
10-08-1994
01-08-1995
02-03-199%6
07-04-1993
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Part Four

Pictorial Section

of
Beulahh Mintsters
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Ministers Association With Beulah Methodist Church

Rev. Bascom A. York
served Dobson Circuit
1885 & 1886. The Brush
Arbor Meeting at Beulah

THE RiE S TR,

Peter Beller, minister of Beller's may have happened under
Meeting House, received "what for" his ministry. That is
from Johnson Snow in early 1800's. not known.

Illustration from Fisher's River

Scenes.

Rev. Mark Quarles Tuttle
1924

Rev. Carl Reginald Allison
1913 & 1914

Rev. W. J. S. Walker
1925 - 1926
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g e e

Kev. Ivey L. Sharpe

Ward

Robert E.
1931, 1932, 1933 & 1934

Rev.

1938, 1939 & 1940

1lsco

Ross Franc

1948, 1963, 1964. 1965

Rev.

Martin William Neckard, Jr.

Rev.

1942 & 1943

: J

-

4
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Rev. Jesse Sidney Gardmer

1951, 1952, 1953, 1954, 1955
1956 & 1957

Rev. Arthur Livengood
1958, 1959 & 1960

Rev. Donald C. Davis Rev. James R. Calloway
1966 & 1967 1967, 1968, 1969 & 1970



Rev. & Mrs. Tom Hayes 1975

Rev. Michael Shuford 1980

Rev. Roger Wilkins Tucker
1985

Rev. J. Wayne McMillian Rev. Dennis W. "Bud" Cameron
1985, 1986, 1987, 1988, 1989 1986, 1987, 1988, 1989
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